A Time Study of Juvenile Probation Services in Illinois

Thomas C. Castellano, Ph.D.

and

Michael Ferguson, B.A.

Center for the Study of Crime, Delinquency and Corrections Southern Illinois University at Carbondale

A Final Report submitted to the:

Administrative Office of the Illinois Courts and the Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

July 1998

This project was supported by Grant #96-DB-MU-0017, awarded to the Illinois Criminla Justice Information Authority by the Bureau of Justice Assistance, Office of Justice Programs, U.S. Department of Justice. The Assistant Attorney General, Office of Justice Programs, coordinates the activities of the following program offices and bureaus: Bureau of Justice Assistance, Bureau of Justice Statistics, National Institute of Justice, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention, and the Office of Victims of Crime. Points of view or opinions contained within this document are those of the author and do not necessarily represent the official position of policies of the U.S. Department of Justice or the Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority.

Printed by the authority of the State of Illinois, September, 1998.

A Time Study of Juvenile Probation Services in Illinois

A Final Report submitted to the:

Administrative Office of the Illinois Courts and the Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority

by:

Thomas C. Castellano, Ph.D.

and

Michael Ferguson, B.A.

Center for the Study of Crime, Delinquency and Corrections

Southern Illinois University at Carbondale

July 1998

Table of Contents

	Page
Preface	vi
Executive Summary	vii
The Research Context and Questions	1
The Data Collection Procedures	3
An Overview of the Time Data	4
Probation Officer Survey	17
Findings from the Time Data	27
Supervision of Juvenile Cases	29
Activity Estimates	35
Social Histories	48
Juvenile Intakes	54
Summary and Conclusions	59
References	64
Appendix A: AOIC Data Collection Instruments	65
Appendix B: Table 1: Average Monthly Supervision Time by County and Supervision Level, Supervision Cases Only	66
Appendix C: SIUC Probation Officer Survey	68

List of Tables

	Page
Table 1: Number of cases by county and type of case	6
Table 2: Case status by size (supervision cases only)	8
Table 3: Strategies for Juvenile Supervision (SJS) classifications by size, (supervision cases only)	9
Table 4: Demographic characteristics of the sample subjects	11
Table 5: Race of client by size (supervision cases only)	12
Table 6: Distribution of rejected cases by case characteristics, compared to accepted cases	15
Table 7: Reasons for case rejection	16
Table 8: Response rates by size of jurisdiction	19
Table 9: Length of time as probation officers, by size of jurisdiction	20
Table 10: Percent distribution of responses to items assessing officer's initial reactionsto participation in the time study (Valid $n = 74$)	22
Table 11: Mean scores for responses to training items, $n = 65$	25
Table 12: Responses to Direct Questions Regarding the Validity of the Time Data	27
Table 13: Mean time spent per month (in hrs.) On activities, traveling, and waiting by county size and supervision level (supervision cases)	30
Table 14: Mean time spent supervising maximum, medium, and minimum cases per month by county size, supervision level and probation officer faith in the workload study	34
Table 15: Mean number of distinct activities per month by size and supervision level	36
Table 16: Mean number of distinct activities per month, by function of activity, county size and supervision level (supervision cases)	37

Table 17: Mean number of face to face, telephone, mail, and other contacts by county size and supervision level (supervision cases)	40
Table 18: Mean number of contacts (per month) with difference persons by county size and supervision level (supervision cases)	41
Table 19: Mean number of contacts (per month) at a specific location by county size and supervision level (supervision cases)	43
Table 20: Mean percentage of supervision time and mean monthly activity time attributable to fact to fact contact with minor, by county size and supervision level (supervision cases)	46
Table 21: Results from multiple regression analysis of average monthly supervisiontime, supervision cases only with extreme outliers excluded, $n = 789$	48
Table 22: Mean total time spent (in hrs.) For each case on activities, traveling, and waiting by county size (social history cases)	49
Table 23: Total mean time (in hrs.) performing social history functions per case, by probation officer faith in the time data	51
Table 24: Mean total number of distinct activities for social history cases	51
Table 25: Mean total number of distinct activities per month, by function of activity, and county size (social history cases)	52
Table 26: Mean number of face to face, telephone, mail, and other contacts for social history cases by county size	53
Table 27: Mean number of contacts with different persons for social history cases by county size	54
Table 28: Mean total number of contacts at a specific location for social history cases, by county size	55
Table 29: Mean time spent per month (in hrs.) performing activities, traveling, and waiting on intake cases by size of county	56
Table 30: Total mean time performing intake functions per case, by probation officer faith in the time data	56

Table 31: Mean number of contacts for intake cases by size of county	57
Table 32: Mean number of assorted contacts for intake cases by size of county	57
Table 33: Mean number of face to face, telephone, mail and other contact for intake cases by size of county	58
Table 34: Mean number of contacts with different persons for intake cases by size of county	58
Table 35: Mean number of contacts at a specific location for intake cases by size of county	59

List of Figures

Page

Figure 1: Mean monthly supervision time, by county size, supervision cases			
Figure 2: Mean time to complete a social history, by county size	50		

PREFACE

This final report examines the amount of time it takes probation officers in Illinois to supervise juvenile probationers, and to conduct intakes and social investigations. It also reports on the types of activities engaged in by probation officers in their supervision functions. The project was funded by the Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority in response to a number of manifest needs exhibited by the Probation Division of the Administrative Office of the Illinois Courts (AOIC). These included the development of an empirical foundation to better understand the work activities of juvenile probation officers, and to better estimate the resources that are necessary to adequately support the delivery of meaningful juvenile probation services.

A common belief is that current juvenile caseloads are so excessive that probation services cannot be reasonably expected to achieve their primary purposes (e.g., reduce levels of offender recidivism, protect the community, help promote the positive development and growth of probationers, carry out deserved punishments ordered by the courts). While this time study does not involve an assessment of probation supervision effectiveness, it helps establish what probation officers actually do during the juvenile supervision process and how much time is actually devoted to the effort. Thus, this study is descriptive in nature. While implications of this study for the successful accomplishment of probation's mission are manifold, and the remedial efforts that can be utilized to promote that mission are many, we offer no prescriptive recommendations. This is a matter better left to state and local policy makers.

Researchers at the Center for the Study of Crime, Delinquency and Corrections at Southern Illinois University at Carbondale (SIUC) completed this study, but in reality the project reflects a dual effort between SIUC and the AOIC. AOIC staff designed the data collection effort, developed data collection forms, selected particular probation departments for study, trained probation officers to collect the data, and collated the resulting information. SIUC staff automated the data set, conducted the analyses, and wrote this report. Thus, both entities are responsible for this project. However, the primary author of this report bears full responsibility for the quality of this written product. He would like to thank Michael Ferguson, Maria Casapini, and John Walsh for their contributions to the project. Thanks also extend to Peg Robertson of AOIC for her patience and support, and the many probation officers in the state who generated the data which are the building blocks of this study.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This final report examines the amount of time it takes probation officers in Illinois to supervise juvenile probationers, and to conduct intakes and social investigations. It also reports on the types of activities engaged in by probation officers in their supervision functions. The project was funded by the Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority in response to a number of manifest needs exhibited by the Probation Division of the Administrative Office of the Illinois Courts (AOIC). While the report was written by researchers at Southern Illinois University at Carbondale (SIUC), it truly reflects a collaborative effort between SIUC and AOIC.

This final report reflects our attempts to provide AOIC and relevant stakeholders of juvenile probation in Illinois with a basic empirical foundation to better understand what probation officers do during the course of their work. A focus has been placed on generating estimates of the amount of time it takes to supervise minors on probation, to conduct social histories, and to provide intake services. These are core functions of probation. A secondary focus was to report on the nature of activities that take place during the performance of these functions. The goal of providing detailed and reliable information on these processes was much more fully achieved in relation to the supervision function than to either the social history or intake function.

This is largely because the research design and data collection efforts developed and implemented by AOIC focused on supervision cases. Consequently, a much larger number of supervision cases (n = 867) were included in the study than either social history (n = 85) or intake cases (n = 33). AOIC made a very good faith effort to collect quality data on a representative sampling of cases. Unfortunately, random sampling of cases was not possible. Further, despite strong communication and training efforts on the part of AOIC to encourage and train probation officers to comply with the study requirements fully, survey data from probation officers who were original participants in the data collection efforts suggest that many of the participating officers generated data of questionable value. Almost half of the respondents in the survey reported they personally generated data that didn't accurately reflect their actual work activity and more than half of the responding officers reported having low levels of faith in the validity of the general data set. Thus, readers need to be cautious in making strong inferences about what these data say or do not say. They also need to be very deliberate in thinking about the implications of these data for policy and practice.

Despite these caveats, the data do tell us certain things. They tell us that supervision level has real impact on the amount of time officers take in supervising juvenile probationers, and that the number and types of activities engaged in during the supervision process varies considerably across supervision level. The data also tell us there are differences in supervision across jurisdictions. While the data set is not large enough to identify specific county impacts on supervision practices (except for Cook County), there is a notable level of variation between Cook County, large counties, medium-sized counties, and small counties in the average length of supervision time and what is done within that time. In addition, the data illustrate that the completion of social histories is a very time consuming task and that differing sized counties exhibit distinct patterns in how probation officers go about doing the work of conducting social investigations. Unfortunately, the number of juvenile intake cases within this study is so low that our understanding of juvenile intake processes in Illinois has not been enhanced significantly by this study.

Some of the more important findings from this study include:

- # Officers on average spent 2.24 hours per case per month in activities related to the supervision of juvenile probation cases. Roughly 61 percent of the officers' time involved actually being engaged in a supervision activity (1.36 hours), 24 percent of the time was spent traveling to and from locations (.53 hours), and the remaining 15 percent of the time was devoted to waiting for an activity to take place (e.g., sitting in a courthouse waiting for a hearing to commence). Median figures tend to be roughly 70 to 75 percent of the mean. Thus, it is safe to conclude that a typical probation case in Illinois appears to involve about two hours of supervision time per month, with approximately sixty percent of the time involving actual engagement in the supervision activity.
- # Maximum supervision cases take an average 3.4 hours of supervision time per month, while medium supervision cases take 2.22 hours per month and minimum cases take 1.22 hours per month. Each increase in supervision level is associated with approximately a one hour increase in supervision time. Across supervision levels, activity time is roughly 60 percent of total time, travel time is 25 percent of total time, and waiting time represents 15 percent of total time.
- # Across supervision levels, officers in Cook County tend to spend slightly more time on each case than officers elsewhere in the state -- roughly one-half hour more per month per case.
- # The difference in supervision time between Cook and the other counties appears largely driven by the fact that Cook County officers tend to spend more time traveling and waiting than officers in other counties. Actual time in the activity is not much different in Cook

ix

County than it is in other counties.

- # Some caution should be applied in interpreting the time estimates because officers who expressed the highest faith in the data uniformly reported lower monthly mean time estimates across supervision levels than those who expressed less faith in the data.
- # The data from the smaller counties may be more valid (i.e., less inflated) than the data from Cook County and the other large counties because officers who expressed less faith in the data were concentrated in larger counties and those same officers tended to report greater amounts of time to supervise cases.
- # An average of six activities are engaged in per month per case during the supervision function. The median is slightly lower at five activities per month.
- # Each increase in supervision level is associated with approximately three more contacts per month. This holds across county size, with inter-county variation being insubstantial.
- # By far, the most common functional activity type is general supervision, with almost four general supervision activities per month per case across all the supervision cases in the time study. Within the state, minimum cases average slightly more than two general supervision functions per month, medium cases average slightly less than four per month, and maximum cases exhibit an average of six general supervision functions per month. Thus, each increase in supervision level is associated with approximately two additional general supervision activities. Little variation in these patterns are exhibited across counties.
- # Paperwork/correspondence is the second most common activity function for juvenileprobation officers, with an average of slightly more than one paperwork/correspondence

Х

activity per month per case. In general, as supervision level increases so does paperwork but the relationship is not nearly as strong or as consistent as found with other forms or probation activity.

By far, the most common location of probation officer activity is the probation office. On average, 3.59 activities occur per month per case in the office. The next most common location is the minor's school (.77 activities), with the minor's residence close behind (.72 activities). Activities at other locations are relatively infrequent, including court (.35 activities), and either detention or child care facilities (.05 activities each). Officers in medium and small counties appear more office-bound that their counterparts in larger jurisdictions.

For all supervision cases, slightly more than fifty percent of all supervision time involves face-to-face contact with the minor (mean = 54.7%, median = 57%). This percentage is based on officers spending an average of 1.21 hours a month in direct contact with their clients. Minors on minimum supervision spend on average .69 hours per month in face-to-face contact with their officers, those on medium supervision average 1.22 hours per month, and maximum supervision clients average 1.74 hours per month.

- # On average, across the state it takes about 9.5 hours to complete a social history. Officers from medium sized counties reported the greatest amount of time to complete a social history (over 12 hours).
- # As with case supervision functions, officers from Cook County reported the greatest average amount of time traveling (1.4 hours) and waiting (1.6 hours) when conducting social

xi

histories.

- # The distinct number of activities engaged in by probation officers while completing social histories averages 17 across the state. Officers in medium and large counties reported more activities (25 and 18 activities, respectively) than officers in either Cook County (13.4 activities) or the smallest counties (12.6 activities).
- # The process of completing social histories is quite distinct across differently sized counties. For instance, the use of the mail to aid in the conduct of social histories is non-existent in Cook County, whereas as the size of the jurisdiction decreases, the use of mail increases. The use of the telephone is relatively infrequent in both Cook County and the smallest counties. In Cook County, face-to-face contacts are the most commonly utilized method of activity whereas use of telephone calls is the modal activity category in the other large counties.
- # Exclusive of Cook County, for which no intake data were available, the average time it takes to conduct an intake is 4.6 hours. Because the scores are so highly skewed, a more appropriate measure may be the median, which is 3.1 hours. Larger counties report less average time to complete an intake (3.26 hours) than either medium (6.71 hours) or small counties (5.32). The sample size for intake cases is so small that more detailed analysis of these cases could not be accomplished with confidence in the results.

While there are many implications of this study's findings for the successful enhancement of juvenile probation services, this study offers no prescriptive recommendations. This is a matter better left to state and local policy makers.

THE RESEARCH CONTEXT AND QUESTIONS

Probation departments throughout the United States have struggled with the development of objective case management systems that may help agencies deliver high quality probation services in a consistent, equitable, fair, and cost-effective manner. Despite much progress in the development and implementation of objective classification systems (e.g., the utilization of screening instruments in the assignment of cases to particular supervision levels), most jurisdictions still operate their probation services in a manner where funding and resource levels are not linked to workload measures; and the relationships between caseloads, clientele characteristics, supervision practices, and success/failure rates are not well-understood. This situation is common in large and small jurisdictions, wealthy and poor jurisdictions, and even in jurisdictions that have put much effort into the development of scientifically-based supervision standards. Success has been elusive, and even more so in the realm of juvenile probation than adult probation. Almost everywhere, much remains to be done in the development of effective client case management systems that achieve the full set of goals that underlie the development of such systems. This research effort reflects an attempt to provide the Administrative Office of the Illinois Courts (AOIC) with a stronger empirical foundation on which to develop an effective juvenile probation client case management system.

The specific research questions addressed in this study include:

How much time is spent by probation officers on the various functions associated with
juvenile probation, including intake, investigation, and supervision?
How much actual time is spent by probation officers actively supervising their clients? How
much time is spent traveling to various locations? How much time is spent by probation
officers waiting in offices, courthouses, or schools to have contact with their clients or

relevant others?

Do different sized departments (defined as small, medium and large by the Probation Division) vary in the amount of time they spend on a case, and in carrying out specific tasks associated with that case?

Do the contact requirements of the AOIC result in significant differences in the amount of time spent by officers supervising maximum supervision cases versus those supervising medium and minimum supervision cases?

What is the distribution of time spent on activities that occur in the probation office setting as opposed to those that occur in other settings? How does this vary by region and department size?

Is there variation within supervision levels regarding number and type of contacts and the amount of time spent on supervision? Can this variation be explained with existing data -- that is, variables such as region, age, and race for which data have been collected? How do probation officers regard the validity of the SJS (Strategies for Juvenile Supervision) as a tool for helping determine supervision plans? How do they view the risk assessment and classification processes utilized within the state?. How do they view the quality of the data they submitted for the current study?

What factors best explain which supervision level was assigned to a particular case? What are the respective roles of county, age, gender, race, etc. in determining both supervision level and the amount of time devoted to supervision? To what degree does supervision level determine supervision time?

The answers to these questions should provide a firm empirical foundation on which to better

2

understand juvenile probation services in Illinois and to guide the development of policies designed to enhance case management systems.

THE DATA COLLECTION PROCEDURES

The present study focuses on the statistical analysis of data that had been collected by the Administrative Office of the Illinois Courts (AOIC) prior to the involvement of the current research team. The data represent time measures of activities associated with the supervision of a random sample of juvenile probation cases within a purposive sample of 18 counties in Illinois. The counties were selected based on the belief that strong casework was practiced in those counties, and to maximize variation in caseload size and geographic region. Within each county, participating officers were asked to record on standardized data collection forms (see Appendix A) their activities associated with the supervision of up to nine randomly selected juveniles. The time taken to complete each activity was requested. For each individual client, two full months of supervision activities (September 15 to November 15, 1996) were to be recorded by the supervising probation officer. If a client's supervision level changed within the two month period, the case was eliminated from the study. For the entire state, AOIC reported that 216 minimum supervision cases, 450 medium supervision cases, and 201 maximum supervision cases were tracked. These numbers tend to parallel the distribution of cases across supervision levels in the state.

In addition to supervision activities, probation officers were also asked to record activities associated with the completion of probation intakes and social histories/investigations. The first intake and investigation assigned to each participating officer after the study commenced was to be selected for study. Cook County Juvenile Probation Services does not utilize the same intake processes as departments elsewhere in the state. Accordingly, no intake information was recorded from Cook County. The result was data on 36 intakes from among the remaining 17 counties, and 85 investigations from among all 18 counties.

The data collection forms, and the entire set of procedures utilized above, were adapted from those used in a previous time study of adult probation services in Illinois conducted by the National Council on Crime and Delinquency (NCCD). Unlike the earlier NCCD study (1987), in the present situation, AOIC officials reviewed the data collection forms and excluded those that were either incompletely filled out or those that did not meet minimally acceptable casework standards. Thus, the present data should more validly and reliably represent supervision practices among those subset of cases for which current standards are being met.

A survey of probation officers involved in the AOIC time study was implemented to collect supplemental data to enhance our understandings of the time data provided by AOIC. Officers were asked a variety of questions regarding their participation in the study, how they felt about the quality of the data they provided AOIC, and their thoughts on the major issues surrounding probationer classification and supervision in their jurisdictions. These survey data shed further light on juvenile probation services delivered in Illinois.

AN OVERVIEW OF THE TIME DATA

Table 1 reports the number of cases in this study. The data are presented by type of case (intake, social history/investigation, maximum, medium, minimum supervision) and the county from which the case originated. A total of 985 cases are included in the data set. Some slight discrepancies with the original figures reported by AOIC are revealed. The number of social histories in the data set are the same as that reported collected by AOIC (n=85), but the final data set contains three fewer intake cases (33 vs. 36), two fewer maximum supervision cases (199 vs. 201), three more medium

supervision cases (453 vs. 450) and one fewer minimum supervision case (215 vs. 216). The discrepancies are very minor, and should not bias the results in any way. Importantly, the number of supervision cases is 900, a large figure that should generate fairly stable estimates of how much time it takes to supervise juvenile probationers. In contrast, because there are so few intakes for analysis, limited attention will be paid to time measures associated with these types of cases.

Table 1 also indicates the counties that participated in the study and the number and type of cases they contributed to the study. Following the lead of AOIC, the counties are categorized by size. Cook County is considered separately from the others, while Lake, Madison, and McHenry counties are included in the "large" category; the 13th Circuit (LaSalle and Grundy counties), McLean, Rock Island, Sangamon, and Tazewell comprise the "medium" category; and Adams, Christian, Clay, Coles-Cumberland, DeKalb, DeWitt, Morgan, Ogle, and Williamson counties fall into the "small" category. Because the delivery of probation services varies so much by county, and size is often considered a major determinant of across-county variation in probation services, most of the time measures reported are disaggregated by county size. In addition, because many counties provided relatively few cases (e.g., 9 from Clay, 11 from Ogle), county-specific figures are not featured in the analysis. Many county-based estimates are based on so few cases that the estimates would prove unreliable. For those interested in such figures, however, see Table 1 in Appendix B.

Department	Intake	Social History	Maximum	Medium	Minimum	Total
Cook	0	32	75	244	73	424
Col %	0%	38%	38%	54%	34%	43%
Large:						
Lake	6	9	12	41	17	85
Madison	6	6	7	18	18	55
McHenry	4	11	13	13	11	52
Total	16	26	32	72	46	192
Col %	48%	31%	16%	16%	21%	19.5%
Medium:						
13th Circuit	0	2	19	17	13	51
McLean	0	4	13	11	9	37
Rock Island	3	3	11	8	8	33
Sangamon	3	4	8	22	15	52
Tazewell	1	3	2	3	6	15
Total	7	16	52	61	51	187
Col	21%	19%	26%	13%	24%	19%
%						
Small:						
Adams	0	2	12	14	7	35
Christian	2	1	4	7	7	21
Clay	0	0	1	6	2	9
Coles-	1	1	9	11	6	28
Cumberland						
DeKalb	1	3	0	11	6	21
DeWitt	2	1	6	6	3	18
Morgan	1	1	2	9	5	19
Ogle	1	1	0	6	3	11
Williamson	2	1	5	6	6	20
Total	10	11	40	76	45	182
Col %	30%	13%	20%	17%	21%	18.5%
Total	33	85	199	453	215	985
Row %	3.4%	8.6%	20.2%	46%	21.8%	100%

Table 1: Number of cases by county and type of case

Cook County contributed 43 percent of the total cases to the study. This figure is very close to the percentage of all juvenile probationers in the state who were on active juvenile caseloads in Cook County (42%) as of December 31, 1995 (Administrative Office of the Illinois Courts, 1996: 45). Large, medium and small counties each generated about 19 percent of the cases to the study (57 percent of the total). Some notable variation exists in the mix of cases within each category of county size. For example, a disproportionate share of the medium supervision cases were generated by Cook County $(54\%)^1$, as were the share of social histories (31.5%) and intakes (48%) generated by larger counties (compared to 19.5% of the total cases). A disproportionate share of maximum (26%) and minimum supervision (24%) cases were generated by medium-sized counties (compared to 19% of the total cases), as were the share of intake cases (30%) generated by smaller counties (compared to 18.5% of the total cases). These variations are further reason to disaggregate the time measures by county size, and within county size to generate separate time estimates for each category of case (e.g., maximum versus medium supervision). Estimates of the average time it takes to supervise all juvenile probationers within all eighteen counties that participated in this study, or even within a single county, would be misleading given the sampling biases apparent in these data. Only a true random probability sampling of juvenile probation cases in the state could lead to the generation of unbiased time estimates. Given this was not a feasible sampling design, time measures disaggregated by size of county and type of case should provide the least biased estimates of how much time probation officers spend on their work activities. Even then, one must interpret the following estimates with some caution.

Table 2 presents further information on the cases in the sample. It presents whether the

¹ As indicated earlier, because Cook County employs an intake process distinctly different from the rest of the state, no intake cases were generated from Cook.

supervision provided juveniles is based on a probation sanction, the court status of "being continued under supervision," or informal supervision. The data are again broken down by county size. It reveals that 76 percent of the supervision cases reflect a disposition of probation while almost twenty percent of the cases have been continued under supervision. Only five percent of the cases are informal supervision cases, none of which are from Cook County. Informal cases are disproportionately from larger and smaller counties (36 of the 45 informal cases). Probation cases are more heavily represented among the Cook County cases than elsewhere, while continued under supervision cases derive disproportionately from both the smallest and largest jurisdictions, exclusive of Cook. These data reflect further reason to disaggregate time estimates by county size.

	Cook	Large	Medium	Small	Total
Probation	343	104	125	106	678
% within size	87.5%	62.7%	73.1%	62.0%	75.3%
Continued Under Supervision	46	41	37	50	174
% within size	11.7%	24.7%	21.6%	29.2%	19.3%
Informal	0	21	9	15	45
% within size	0.0%	12.7%	5.3%	8.8%	5.0%
Missing	3	0	0	0	3
% within size	.8%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	.3%
Total	389	166	171	171	900

 Table 2: Case status by size (supervision cases only)

Originally, one goal of the study was to examine how the Strategies for Juvenile Supervision (SJS) classification system influences the delivery of juvenile probation services in the state. The system is widely used in the state and provides officers guidance on the type of supervision strategy (e.g. limit setting focus versus providing selective interventions) deemed to match the psychosocial characteristics of the probationer. Table 3 reveals that the SJS system is not as commonly utilized as had been expected. Almost fifty percent of the supervision cases did not have any record of the SJS category to be applied to the youth. Only officers in Cook County appear to regularly use the classification system, with almost 85 percent of the cases having a SJS category identified on the data forms. In contrast, among the large counties over 85 percent of the cases had missing information regarding SJS category will not be used as a variable to help us better understand how probation officers supervise juvenile probationers.

	Cook	Large	Medium	Small	Total
Limit Setting (LS)	36	1	8	3	48
% within size	9.2%	.6%	4.7%	1.8%	5.3%
Selective Intervention (SI)	211	16	30	17	274
% within size	53.8%	9.6%	17.5%	9.9%	30.4%
Environmental Structure (ES)	59	2	14	7	82
% within size	15.1%	1.2%	8.2%	4.1%	9.1%
Casework Control (CC)	24	2	20	7	53
% within size	6.1%	1.2%	11.7%	4.1%	5.9%
Missing	62	145	99	137	443
% within size	15.8%	87.3%	57.9%	80.1%	49.3%
Total	330	21	72	34	900

 Table 3: Strategies for Juvenile Supervision (SJS) classifications by size,

 (supervision cases only)

Table 4 presents some basic demographic characteristics (gender, race, and age) of the juveniles represented in the time study sample. For both the supervision (including intakes) and social history cases, males represent over eighty percent of the probation clients. Whites represent slightly over fifty percent of the cases, Blacks are slightly over a third of the cases, and Hispanics represent the bulk of the remaining cases (slightly less than 10%). The average age of the subjects for whom social histories were completed is slightly less than those who were being supervised (15.42 vs. 15.85). The modal age of the probation clients was 16, while a small number of the subjects were under 14 years of age (10.7% of the supervision cases and 16.5% of the social history cases). All of the above figures are consistent with what is known about the demographic characteristics of probation clients in the state.

Table 5 presents data on how the race of the juvenile probation population varies by county. It reveals county and race of probationer are heavily related. While 36.3 percent of all the juvenile probationers in this study population are Black, the figure rises to 67.3 percent in Cook County. While slightly over fifty percent of the statewide cases are White, only 18.3 percent of the probationers in Cook County are White. In contrast, outside of Cook County well over 75 percent of the probationers are White. Accordingly, county based variations in the delivery of probation services have an inherent potential differential impact on the nature of probation services received by juveniles of differing races in Illinois. To address this issue, in

	Supervision		Social I	History
Gender:	Ν	Percent	Ν	Percent
Male	746	82.9%	72	84.7%
Female	154	17.1%	13	15.3%
Total	900	100.0%	85	100.0%
Race	N	Percent	N	Percent
Black	327	36.3%	28	32.9%
Hispanic	75	8.3%	10	11.8%
White	458	50.8%	45	52.9%
Other	21	2.3%	1	1.2%
Missing	19	2.1%	1	1.2%
Total	900	100%	85	100%
Age:	Ν	Percent	Ν	Percent
<14	96	10.7%	14	16.5%
14	107	11.9%	12	14.1%
15	207	23.0%	23	27.1%
16	260	28.9%	30	35.3%
17 +	196	21.8%	6	7.1%
Missing	17	1.9%	0	0%
Total	900	100.0%	85	100.0%
Mean Age	1	15.85		.42
Median Age	1	6.09	15	.59
Standard Deviation	1.56		1.	35

Table 4: Demographic characteristics of the sample subjects

subsequent analyses, a multivariate statistical model is developed to estimate the independent effects of county and race of the probationer on the amount of supervision time provided.

	Cook	Large	Medium	Small	Total
Black					
Ν	257	25	28	17	327
% within size	67.3%	15.4%	16.8%	10.0%	36.3%
Hispanic					
Ν	44	17	9	5	75
% within size	11.5%	10.5%	5.4%	2.9%	8.3%
White					
Ν	70	115	128	145	458
% within size	18.3%	71.0%	76.6%	85.3%	50.8%
Other					
Ν	11	5	2	3	21
% within size	2.9%	3.1%	1.2%	1.8%	2.3%
Missing					19
Total					2.1%
Ν	382	162	167	170	900
% of total	43.4%	18.4%	19.0%	19.3%	100.0%

 Table 5: Race of client by size (supervision cases only)

This review of the data collected by AOIC illustrates that the data set has a number of strengths and weaknesses. While the number of supervision cases is large, the number of intake cases are so small and potentially unrepresentative of intake processes that estimates of the time it takes to conduct a juvenile intake are suspect. Further, the number of supervision and social history cases produced by many counties are so small that it would be hazardous to place much value on county-specific time estimates. However, it is also clear that the delivery of juvenile probation services varies greatly across counties. Thus, the most desirable analytic plan is to provide time estimates based on

county size. Even this approach is wrought with potential inferential problems because the distribution of supervision categories across differing sized counties within this study varies in a manner that does not comport with the actual distribution of all cases in that county. Further, if race of the probationer impacts probation services², another confounding factor is introduced into the analysis. Black probationers are disproportionately located in Cook County. Thus, inter-county comparisons that contrast Cook and other parts of the state may disguise or be driven by race effects.

Prior to a discussion of the probation officer survey, some relevant information on the cases excluded from the data set by AOIC staff is presented. These data are used to further assess the representativeness and quality of the time data.

Rejected Cases

AOIC officials reviewed the data collection forms before they were turned over to the research team and excluded those that were either incompletely filled out or those that did not meet minimally acceptable casework standards. Originally, it was unclear how many cases were excluded for what reasons, and the distribution of those cases across county, caseload, or supervision level. If attrition was significantly variable across these key factors, the sample may present serious bias. While the "accepted" cases may present valid and reliable data for these subset of cases, they may not be representative of the universe of current juvenile probation practices in the state. In effect, "bad" cases that actually reflected what probation officers do but which are inconsistent with casework standards may have been systematically excluded from the study. Thus, the net effect of excluding cases may be

² Race has been identified as a factor which perhaps influences decision making across many stages of the criminal justice system (McGarrell, 1993; Spohn and Cederblom, 1991). Racial effects on the delivery of probation services has been a relatively neglected area of study.

stronger internal validity at the expense of weaker external validity.

An initial task for the present research was the estimation of bias that may have resulted from the process by which cases were excluded from study. A total of 86 cases completed by probation officers were rejected for inclusion in the study by AOIC staff. Some basic information was coded from each of these cases to ascertain if these cases differed significantly from the accepted cases on key variables (county, supervision level, age, race, and sex of the probationer). Because the reason for rejecting particular cases was not noted on the forms, SIUC staff had to infer reasons by reviewing each case. Table 6 presents the characteristics of these cases, and compares the distribution of rejected cases from accepted cases on certain key variables.

The table reveals that the distribution of rejected cases (n = 86) on key case and probationer variables tends to parallel the distribution of accepted cases on those same variables. Some counties generated a disproportionate number of rejected cases (e.g., Tazewell), but those appeared due to idiosyncratic reasons (e.g., an officer participating in the study was on vacation for a significant portion of the study period). This should not affect the representativeness of the final data set. A disproportionate percentage of the rejected cases had missing values for case status (i.e., continued under supervision vs. informal vs. probation supervision), but the level of missing data was one criterion for rejecting a case. Intakes and maximum supervision cases were disproportionally represented among the rejected cases. The reason for this is unclear, but we speculate that maximum supervision cases were over represented among the rejected cases simply because more could go wrong in completing the form -- the greater the number of entries

on the form, the greater the likelihood of illegible or non-interpretable comments. In addition,

14

	Frequency of Rejected Cases	Percent of Rejected Cases	Variable Category as a Percent of Accepted Cases
County			
Cook	41	47.7	43.0
13th Circuit	10	11.6	5.0
Clay	1	1.2	9
DeKalb	6	7.0	2.1
Lake	3	3.5	8.6
Madison	2	2.3	5.6
Morgan	2	2.5	1.0
Rock Island	3	3.5	3.3
Sangamon	2	2.3	5.5
Tazawall	12	2.5	1.5
Williamson	12	1 2	2.0
Missing	2	2.3	
Case Status:			
Probation	55	64.0	75.3
Continued Under			
Supervision	8	9.3	19.3
Informal	8	9.3	5.0
Missing	15	17.4	.3
Case Type:			
Intake	10	11.6	3.4
Social History	8	9.3	8.6
Maximum	26	30.2	20.2
Medium	30	34.9	46.0
Minimum	6	7.0	21.8
Missing	6	7.0	
Gender:			
Male	77	89.5	83.0
Female	9	10.5	17.0
Race:	4.4	51.2	27.1
Black	44	51.2	3/.1 9 5
Hispanic	4	4.7	8.5
white	34	39.5	32.0
Other Missing	0	0	2.4
Missing	4	4./	2.0
Age:			
Under 14	10	12.2	11.1
14	10	12.2	12.1
15	16	19.5	23.3
16	33	40.2	29.4
17 or older	13	15.9	20.5
Missing	4	4.7	1.7
Mean Age		15.75	15.85

Table 6: Distribution of rejected cases by case characteristics, compared to accepted cases

we assume a baseline expectation among AOIC staff was to witness a higher level of contacts among

maximum supervision cases. When this was not borne out by the form, the form was more likely to be rejected. Thus, potential bias relating to case characteristics appears limited, and confined to maximum supervision and intake cases.

In Table 7, the distribution of inferred reasons for AOIC rejecting a case are presented.

The data suggest that AOIC's rejecting certain cases for analysis has not introduced serious bias into the data set. The vast bulk of cases presented a clear reason for rejection -- about 85 percent of the total. The most common reason was the probation officer did not follow explicit instructions in filling out the forms -- the wrong form was used, items were left blank,

Reasons for Rejection:	Number	Percent of Total
Unclear	13	15.1
Forms not completed according to instructions (e.g., wrong form, items left blank, writing uninterpretable, etc.)	24	27.9
Less than 2 months supervision time (e.g., supervision revoked, arrest warrant issued, minor institutionalized, case closed early)	21	24.4
Case didn't fall within research design, case type not specified (e.g., supervision level)	10	11.6
Officer out of work for much of 2-month time period (e.g., vacation, sick)	10	11.6
contact data suspect Total	8	9.3
	86	99.9

Table 7: Reasons for case rejection

or the documentation was uninterpretable. A quarter of the rejected cases involved situations where the full two months of supervision was not met, primarily because the youth was no longer on active supervision. The only cases that could be considered damaging to the representativeness of the data were the nine percent of the cases where there were limited or no contacts reported with the minor, and the fifteen percent of the rejected cases in which the Principle Investigator could not discern a clear reason for rejection. Thus, at most, twenty-five percent of the rejected cases should have been included in the final data set. This, however, represents a maximum of twenty-one cases. Dispersing these cases across differing supervision levels and counties throughout the state within the final data set would not impact time estimates significantly . Accordingly, it is unlikely that either the internal or external validity of this study has been compromised by AOIC's screening of cases.

PROBATION OFFICER SURVEY

A survey of probation officers involved in the AOIC time study was implemented to collect supplemental data to enhance our understandings of the time data provided by AOIC. Originally, a telephone survey was planned, but conversations with AOIC officials indicated that the most efficient survey administration method would be self-administered mailed questionnaires. Accordingly, a draft questionnaire was completed and submitted to both AOIC and SIUC's Human Subjects Committee. Slight revisions to the instrument were made in light of the feedback received, and both organizations approved the survey design. A copy of the final instrument is found in Appendix C. The questionnaire contains a series of closed-ended and open-ended questions, with many of the questions aimed at assessing probation officer views of their participation in the time study, the adequacy of the training they received, the quality of the data they submitted to AOIC, the utility of the existing supervision classification system, and the potential implementation of workload formulas. Appendix C also contains a copy of a letter from AOIC's Juvenile Program Coordinator to the potential respondents asking for their participation in this component of the time study.

Questionnaires were mailed on October 23, 1997 to the 120 probation officers who participated in the original data collection process . Respondents were asked to return the questionnaire by November 15. Response rates were tracked, and informed the utilization of follow-up efforts. Responses came in very slowly before the November 15 date. Accordingly, a number of remedial efforts were deployed. Approximately two weeks after the initial mail-out, follow-up reminder postcards were sent to non-respondents. In addition, AOIC staff made contact with probation officer supervisors to encourage staff participation and the research team made direct contact with supervisors from low-response rate jurisdictions to enlist their aid in the survey process. Additional questionnaires were mailed to jurisdictions with officers who indicated a willingness to respond but who had misplaced the original questionnaire, and telephone interviews were conducted with some officers who did not want to respond via a mailed questionnaire. These remedial efforts proved quite successful, as evidenced by the response rates presented in Table 8.

A total of eighty-two questionnaires were returned. Of these, seven were not completed. Six of the seven questionnaires were returned blank because the probation officer who had originally participated in the time study had left the agency. Only one officer refused to complete the form. Thus, seventy-five questionnaires were completed, representing a 62.5% response rate. Included in this figure are four surveys completed by telephone interviews. If one excludes the six potential respondents who left probation work, the effective response rate is 65.8%. The overall response rate is considered "good" for this type of survey effort (Babbie, 1973: 165).

18

	COOK	LARGE	MEDIUM	SMALL	TOTAL
Number of Potential Respondents	49	23	26	22	120
Percent and Number of Questionnaires Returned	61.2% (30)	73.9% (17)	61.5% (16)	86.4% (19)	68.3% (82)
Percent and Number of Questionnaires Completed	59.2% (29)	65.2% (15)	53.8% (14)	77.3% (17)	62.5% (75)

 Table 8: Response rates by size of jurisdiction

Response rates varied slightly by size of jurisdiction, with officers from medium-sized jurisdictions exhibiting the lowest response rate (53.8%) and officers from the smallest jurisdictions generating the highest response rate (77.3%). The noted variation in response rates across differently-sized jurisdictions is not sufficient to cast significant doubt on the generalizability of the survey findings across probation departments. However, the results from officers serving smaller jurisdictions are least likely to suffer from non-response bias.

The Respondents

Table 9 presents the average number of years the respondents have worked as probation officers. The survey purposely did not contain many items on the demographic characteristics of the respondents³. Accordingly, while we know that the respondents tended to have many years of

³ The state does not maintain a centralized information system on probation officers. Thus, we could not ascertain the aggregate characteristics of probation officers in the state. This prohibited our ability to compare the characteristics of our respondents with those of the state probation workforce. This is why we did not make queries about personal characteristics.

experience as probation officers (mean = 8.59 years), and many of these officers had spent most of their probation careers supervising juveniles, we know little about their educational background or their movement within the probation ranks. The years of service data indicate, however,

	Cook (n= 28)	Large (n=15)	Medium (n=14)	Small (n=15)	Total (72)
Mean # of years as a Probation Officer	9.40	8.83	7.67	7.62	8.59
Mean # of years as a Juvenile Probation Officer	9.4	8.17	6.64	7.05	8.12

 Table 9: Length of time as probation officers, by size of jurisdiction

that across all sized jurisdictions, this sample includes officers with a great level of probation experience. For instance, only sixteen of the 75 respondents had been probation officers for less than two years (21.6%). Five respondents had been probation officers for over 20 years (7%).

Respondents were asked if their "participation in the AOIC time study was voluntary" and to comment on why they think they were chosen for participation in the study. Responses to these questions were quite variable, reflecting underlying uncertainty among the respondents about the reasons why they became involved in the study. Moreover, the data reflect strong variation across counties in how officers were apparently selected for participation. For instance, about half of the respondents reported they volunteered to participate in the study (46%), while the other half said they did not volunteer (54%). Patterns varied across the size of departments, with officers from Cook County and smaller counties more likely to report voluntary participation (62.1% and 60.0%, respectively) than officers from large and medium sized-departments (20% and 36.7%, respectively).
However, within specific counties, there were discrepant perceptions as to whether participation was voluntary or not. For instance, while 62 percent of the officers from Cook stated their participation was voluntary, 38 percent said it wasn't.

Officers were also asked to comment on "why you think you were chosen to participate in the study". Some respondents discussed why their department was chosen, and most responses indicated that the particular department was chosen because AOIC views the department as cooperative and professional. This was also a theme among the responses offered for why particular officers were selected, although responses were more variable in this regard. Many respondents offered reasons typified by the following statements: "I'm a superior PO", "because I'm organized, dependable, and willing to do extra work", "my supervisor thought I would be the most compliant in completing the study". Others reported being selected because "I have the least seniority in my unit", "I needed the training hours", or "My caseload wasn't that large". Thus, it appears that what brought particular officers into the time study was quite variable. Many officers appear to have been chosen because supervisors thought they would represent the department well, thus perhaps accounting for the fact that the average number of years of service in probation work was relatively high. On the other hand, some felt they were chosen because of their lack of seniority or because they were perceived as having the time to work on the study (e.g., they had smaller caseloads which would allow them more time to complete the paperwork associated with the project).

These data make it difficult to ascertain how representative the respondents are of the probation officer workforce in the state, but the overall variability in responses suggests positive consequences for the time study data. Clearly, while many of the officers who participated in the study were selected because of their perceived professionalism, competence, or commitment; others were

not.

Respondents were asked a few questions intended to measure how they initially reacted to being told/asked to be involved in the study. These data, presented in Table 10, suggest patterns consistent with expectations on how street-level bureaucrats who work in high-demand and stressful environments would respond to an additional work assignment with unclear organizational value. In general, most respondents reported feeling that the assignment was not the source (or a limited source) of happiness, pride, or enthusiasm; rather they tended to be

Table 10: Percent distribution of responses to items assessing officer's initial reactions to
participation in the time study (Valid n = 74)

	"Not at all"	"Very Little"	"Some"	"A lot"
Excited?	56.8	25.7	13.5	4.1
Happy?	36.5	31.1	27.0	5.4
Enthusiastic?	25.7	44.6	23.0	6.8
Pleased?	40.5	31.1	21.6	6.8
Proud?	41.9	24.3	25.7	8.1
Reluctant?	27.0	24.3	41.9	6.8
Skeptical?	17.6	16.2	48.6	17.6
Upset?	44.6	27.0	25.7	2.7
Angry?	43.2	23.0	31.1	2.7
Burdened?	9.5	17.6	33.8	39.2

skeptical and somewhat reluctant to engage in a set of tasks viewed as burdensome. Most observers of probation work would not be surprised by these responses. They appear typical of how most people working in such contexts would respond to participation in a time study of their activities. The results also correspond with how respondents viewed the personal benefits that would derive from participation in the study. When asked if they saw any "personal benefits by participation in this study", 55.6 percent of the 72 responding officers answered "no".

Despite the general lack of personal benefits expected to accrue from participation in the study, most of the respondents perceived potential value from the study. In an open-ended question, the officers were asked "What other good could you see coming out of this study, either for your department, AOIC, Illinois citizens, etc.?". A content analysis of the responses was conducted, and "types" of responses were created. The most common response was categorized as providing the state with a stronger empirical understanding of juvenile probation (n = 27). Typical responses in this category included "to get data on time spent," "to determine time needed to do investigations, which we are short on," "help me understand where I spend most of my time with juveniles". Many responses coupled the data acquisition goal with direct and tangible benefits for juvenile probation services in the state. These included using the data to lower and/or develop more realistic caseloads (n = 11, e.g., "to determine realistic caseloads and staff needs," "lower caseloads," "our supervision standards can become more accurately aligned to work hours"); to improve services (n = 9, e.g., "improved quality of services to youth," "to get officers out in the field more"); and to access more resources (n = 7, e.g., "to get more officers," "to increase funding for needed areas," "for the state to give more money for more resources"). Thus, many officers appeared to realize that the study could potentially impact their jobs, and the quality of juvenile probation services in the state. Given such perceptions, one would expect the respondents to have some incentive to provide AOIC with useful data.

A number of items asked the survey subjects about the information they were provided and the training they received before data collection efforts commenced. Most of the respondents (71 of the 75) offered information on what they were told about the study prior to their actual involvement in the AOIC study. Of these, 76.1 percent stated they were provided "detailed information", 89.2 percent were told about the purposes of the study, and 87.5 percent were apprised of the expected time duration of their participation in the study. Thirty-seven of the respondents (52.9%) stated the information they received came from AOIC training staff. Other sources of information noted were "immediate supervisor" (15.7%), "Cook County training staff" (8.6%), chief juvenile officer" (2.9%), and combinations of the above. These data suggest the participating officers were well informed about the study before they commenced their roles in generating the time data.

Formal training was also provided to the vast majority of the respondents -- 59 of the officers stated that they received formal training prior to the study start up (80.8% of the 73 officers who responded to this question). Respondents were then asked to respond to a number of items regarding the quality of training and their preparedness to correctly provide the time data being requested as a result of the training. The mean scores for responses to a series of Likert-format items are presented in Table 11. The scores generally indicate that respondents felt quite neutral about the training and their readiness to complete time forms accurately.

Item	Mean (range from 1 "strongly agree"to 5 "strongly disagree"	Standard Deviation
Training Informative?	2.42	1.10
Training Effective?	2.46	1.13
Training Clear?	2.37	1.15
Training Necessary?	2.43	1.31
After Training, Fully Prepared to Correctly Report Time Data Requested?	2.12	.99

 Table 11: Mean scores for responses to training items, n=65

A series of further questions were posed about the adequacy of the data collection forms used in the study. As above, the responses were quite neutral and indicated that the probation officers felt the forms were not particularly strong or poor, cumbersome or simple to use, etc. (data not presented in tabular form). However, only twenty percent of the respondents stated they felt "somewhat dissatisfied" or "very dissatisfied" with the forms.

A few more items directly addressed the issue of how accurately the probation officer participants completed the data forms. One question asked, "During the study, when did you tend to record information on the data forms"? Thirty percent of the respondents said "right after the activity," 49 percent said "anytime during the workday when I had time," and twelve percent said "at the end of the workday". Only two respondents said they completed the forms at the end of the work week or right before the end of the study. Thus, the probation officers reported being punctual and timely in completing the forms.

Another question took a very direct and personal approach with the issue of data validity. It

asked, "Do you think that the time you recorded on the form validly represents the time you normally spend on cases within your caseload"? A full 44 percent of the persons who responded to this question said "no". Twenty of the 32 respondents who responded negatively to the question provided open-ended responses describing why they didn't complete their forms validly. The most common responses, by far, were related to time constraints. For example, officers reported they "had other duties," "there was a lack of time," "it was difficult to record all contacts," "caseload was too high".

Responses to another item in the questionnaire support the notion that the time data provided by the probation officers should be viewed cautiously. The officers were asked to put themselves in the researcher's shoes and to report on how much faith they would have in the data accurately reflecting the time it actually takes to supervise juveniles on probation. The response categories ranged from 1 ("little faith") to 10 ("a lot of faith"). Twenty-five of the 72 respondents (34.7%) recorded a 1-3, as did another 25 respondents who recorded scores of between 4 and 6. Slightly less than a third of the officers expressed a good deal of faith in the data (a score of 7 to 10). This distribution of scores is reflected in a mean that is less than the midpoint of the scale (mean = 4.92, st. dev. = 2.25).

The responses to the two preceding questions varied by the size of the county in which the probation officer worked. As reflected in Table 12, officers from Cook County and the larger counties were more negative about their faith in the data generally, and about the validity of the data they personally provided. While the differences across county in the latter item are not statistically significant (chi-square = 6.91, d.f. = 6, p value = .324), differences in the mean scores across counties on the "faith in the data" item are statistically significant (F = 3.641, d.f. = 3, p value = .017).

Size of County:	# of respondents	Mean for "faith in data" item	Percent responding "No" to question if they thought the data provided was valid"
Cook	29	4.03	44.8
"Large"	14	4.50	57.1
"Medium"	15	5.67	46.7
"Small"	14	6.36	26.7
Total	72	4.92	43.8

 Table 12: Responses to Direct Questions Regarding the Validity of the Time Data

Given these negative scores, it is extremely important to question the accuracy of the following time estimates. In light of response patterns to items in the questionnaire, we would expect the time data to undercount actual activity levels and the time it takes to complete probation tasks. This should be more true in Cook County, but less true in the smaller counties.

FINDINGS FROM THE TIME DATA

The data set described above is very detailed and contains a wealth of information on the time it takes to fulfill probation functions, how many distinct activities were associate with the completion of tasks, with whom officer contacts took place, where they took place, how they took place, how much was spent traveling to and from destinations, how much time was spent waiting for a contact to occur and so on. As detailed above, because neither a full population of probation cases nor a random sampling of cases comprise the study population, we will be presenting estimates only, with the level of sampling bias associated with these estimates being unknown and unknowable. Further, as reflected in the probation officer survey, even many of the officers who generated the time data have little faith that the data validly and accurately reflect the actual amount of time it takes to fulfill probation

functions. Thus, measurement biases also undoubtedly exist. Accordingly, a conservative presentation and analytic format will be presented.

We start by presenting the supervision data. Because the sample sizes are fairly large and it is expected that size of jurisdiction and supervision level significantly impact probation activity, estimates are disaggregated by supervision level and county size. Means, medians, and sample sizes are presented for each cell. The means are based on distributions that tend to be highly skewed in a positive direction. This indicates there are outliers concentrated among high range values --for example, most of the cases might take 1 hour for supervision tasks, but there are some cases that take 5, 7 or even more hours of supervision time. Thus, the means will be unduly inflated by these outlying high scores. As a result, we also present medians. They are not influenced by outliers, and reflect the 50th percentile in a distribution of scores. We also experimented with the presentation of means that are exclusive of the most extreme five percent of the cases in a distribution. This is called a five percent trim. It was decided not to present this value because little added information was provided and it cluttered the resulting tables. In general, most of the means were highly skewed so that while the five percent trim deflated the mean values, it did so in a roughly proportionate manner across mean values. Thus, basic findings regarding how means vary across supervision level, county size and other control variables did not change.

After the findings from the supervision cases are presented, scores for the social history and intake cases are provided. Because the sample sizes for these cases are small, the analyses are not as refined as those presented for the supervision cases. Further, the unit of time presented for the estimates of social and intake cases differs from that employed with the supervision cases. When people conceptualize the work involved in supervising probationers, most often people think in terms of

the amount of time or the number of contacts needed to supervise a case per month. Most probation case classifications systems utilize such an approach (e.g., Wisconsin Case Classification System). However, when one thinks of the amount of time or the level of activity it takes to complete an intake or a social history, one usually thinks in terms of what it takes for the task to be completed fully. This is not bounded by an arbitrary time period, such as month. Accordingly, time and activity estimates for the intake and social history cases are reported based <u>on the full amount of time needed to complete the task</u>, whereas time and activity estimates for supervision cases are based on <u>monthly figures</u> (i.e., time for the full two month study period/2).

Supervision of Juvenile Cases

Estimates of Monthly Supervision Time

Table 13 presents the means and medians for how much time it takes per month, in hours, to supervise juvenile probation cases. The data are presented by size of county and supervision level, with estimates provide for total supervision time and its subcomponents (i.e., time in activity, time spent traveling, and time spent waiting). Commencing with the total category at the bottom of the table, one sees that officers on average spent 2.24 hours per case per month supervising juvenile probation cases. Roughly 61 percent of the officers' time involved actually being engaged in the supervision activity (1.36 hours), 24 percent of the time was spent traveling to and from various locations (.53 hours), and the remaining 15 percent of the time was devoted to waiting for an activity to take place (e.g., sitting in a courthouse waiting for a hearing to commence). For each of the above estimates, the median figure tends to be roughly 70 to 75

Table 13: Mean time spent per month (in hrs.) on activities, traveling, and waiting by county size and supervision level(supervision cases)

N LEVELspent supervising per monthon activities per monthtraveling per monthwaiting monthCookMaximumMean3.8472.1234.8110.913Median3.2831.5250.7083.708	g per th 30 33 4 4
supervising per monthper monthmonthCookMaximumMean3.8472.1234.8110Median3.2831.5250.7083.708	<i>th</i> 30 33 4 74
Cook Maximum Mean 3.847 2.1234 .8110 .913 Median 3.283 1.5250 .7083 .708	30 33 '4
Cook Maximum Mean 3.847 2.1234 .8110 .912 Median 3.283 1.5250 .7083 .708	33 33 14 37
Niedian 3.283 1.3230 .7083 .708	33 4 7
N 75 75 75 75	74 57
N /3 /3 /3 /3	'4 7
Medium Mean 2.5/0 1.3210 .0012 .58/	7 1
Median 2.279 1.1167 .5458 .316	
N 244 244 244 244	1
Minimum Mean 1.573 .8967 .4075 .268	7
Median 1.017 .5417 .3167 8.333H	E-02
N 73 73 73 73	
Total Mean 2.629 1.3955 .6426 .590)4
Median 2.204 1.0667 .5000 .283	3
N 392 392 392 392	2
Large Maximum Mean 3.752 2.4634 1.1922 9.677F	E-02
Median 2.717 1.6917 .7833 .000	0
N 31 31 31 31	
Medium Mean 1.627 1.0542 .5338 3.947F	E-02
Median 1.213 .7417 .3583 .000	00
N 72 72 72 72 72	
Minimum Mean 1.094 .6201 .4279 4.601F	E-02
Median .688 .5042 .1125 .000	00
N 46 46 46 46	
Total Mean 1.905 1.2134 .6381 5.341F	E-02
Median 1.217 .7667 .3250 .000	00
N 149 149 149 149)
Medium Maximum Mean 2.906 1.8838 .6119 .409	07
Median 1.975 1.2333 .3333 4.1671	E-02
N 53 53 53 53	
Medium Mean 1.748 1.2342 .3255 .188	34
Median 1 208 8083 1667 4 1671	F-02
N 61 61 61 61	
Minimum Mean 982 6639 2395 7.8921	F-02

SIZE	SUPERVISIO N LEVEL		Total time spent supervising per month	Time spent on activities per month	Time spent traveling per month	Time spent waiting per month
		Median	.667	.4750	.0000	.0000
		Ν	51	51	51	51
	Total	Mean	1.883	1.2666	.3910	.2257
		Median	1.208	.8333	.1667	1.667E-02
		Ν	165	165	165	165
Small	Maximum	Mean	2.946	2.3335	.4371	.1752
		Median	2.713	2.1000	.2500	.1250
		Ν	40	40	40	40
	Medium	Mean	2.006	1.5658	.3291	.1107
		Median	1.583	1.0583	.2083	4.167E-02
		Ν	76	76	76	76
	Minimum	Mean	1.045	.8356	.1244	8.500E-02
		Median	.767	.6250	.0000	.0000
		Ν	45	45	45	45
	Total	Mean	1.971	1.5524	.2987	.1196
		Median	1.508	1.1583	.1667	4.167E-02
		Ν	161	161	161	161
Total	Maximum	Mean	3.401	2.1548	.7422	.5035
		Median	2.758	1.6667	.5417	.1667
		Ν	199	199	199	199
	Medium	Mean	2.215	1.3080	.5400	.3666
		Median	1.750	.9667	.3833	.1250
		Ν	453	453	453	453
	Minimum	Mean	1.220	.7695	.3128	.1376
		Median	.792	.5250	.1667	.0000
		Ν	215	215	215	215
	Total	Mean	2.240	1.3688	.5301	.3413
		Median	1.658	.9583	.3333	8.333E-02
		Ν	867	867	867	867

percent of the mean. This is true across most of the analyses. Thus, it is safe to conclude that a typical probation case in Illinois appears to involve about two hours of supervision time per month, with approximately sixty percent of the time involving actual engagement in the supervision activity.

The bottom set of figures in Table 13 also illustrate, as would be expected, supervision level is directly related to mean supervision time. That is, maximum supervision cases take an average 3.4 hours of supervision time per month, while medium supervision cases take 2.22 hours per month and minimum cases take 1.22 hours per month. Each increase in supervision level is associated with approximately a one hour increase in supervision time. The median figures are generally 65 to 75 percent of the mean time, reflecting roughly one-half hour less of supervision time per month. Again, in each instance, activity time is roughly 60 percent of total time, travel time is 25 percent of total time, and waiting time represents 15 percent of total time. All of the above patterns are remarkably stable for most of the time estimates in the study. Thus, they can be considered rules of thumb. When discrepancies are found, they are noted.

Attention next turns to how supervision time varies across counties. While the relevant estimates are presented in Table 13, they are also illustrated graphically in Figure 1. Across supervision levels, officers in Cook County tend to spend slightly more time on each case than officers elsewhere in the state -- roughly one-half hour more per month per case. For maximum supervision cases, the pattern is less apparent with Cook County officers and officers from larger counties spending approximately 3.8 hours per month on each case. For medium and smaller counties, the average figure is 2.9 hours per month.



The difference in supervision time between Cook and the other counties is largely driven by the fact that Cook County officers tend to spend more time traveling and waiting than officers in other counties. Actual time in direct supervision activities is not much different in Cook County than it is in other counties. For example, while officers in Cook County spend roughly one more extra hour per case on maximum juvenile cases than officers in the smaller counties, the officers in smaller counties spend approximately the same amount of time in direct supervision activities as those in Cook County (2.3 vs. 2.1 hours), but much less time traveling (.43 vs. .81 hours) and waiting (.17 vs. .91 hours). These patterns continue for the medium and minimum supervision cases, but are less pronounced.

The review of the data from the probation officer survey suggested that time estimates should be viewed with some skepticism. Many of the officers who generated the time data indicated they had little faith in the validity of the data generally, and even in what they provided. To assess how the time estimates may have been impacted by the care individual officers displayed in the data collection process, the level of faith that officers expressed in the data were linked to the actual cases they supervised. Out of the 867 total supervision cases, these links could be made with 459 of the supervision cases (note that only slightly more than half of the time study participants responded to the follow-up survey). Table 14 provides information on how time estimates varied across the probation officer's faith in the data. The categories of faith are "low" (scores of 1-3 on the original ten point scale), "medium" (scores of 4-6), and "high" (scores of 7-10).

The bottom set of figures in Table 14 present statewide figures and indicate that officers who expressed the highest faith in the data uniformly reported lower monthly mean time estimates scores across supervision levels than those who expressed less faith in the data. No clear patterns emerge between those who expressed the lowest level of faith in the data and those who expressed a "medium" level of faith in the data. We think, however, the former finding has very important implications for the time estimates. It suggests that the time estimates may be inflated somewhat. It may be that some officers, especially overworked officers with high caseloads, guessed what amount of time they put into cases, and they tended to guess high. While emergencies and crises are ever present in probation work, and it is true that in some instances a single minor may take up an inordinate amount of an officer's time, the extreme skewness of the data and other patterns in the data suggest "high guessing" may be a partial explanation for what has been discovered -- especially as it relates to differences between Cook County and the larger counties relative to the other counties in the study.

SIZE	SUPERVISION LEVEL	PO FAITH	Mean	Median	N		SIZE	SUPERVISION LEVEL	PO FAITH	Mean	Median	N
Cook	Maximum	Low	3.770	3.358	34				Medium	2.023	2.108	7
		Medium	3.630	2.817	15				High	1.113	.583	7
		High	2.636	2.246	6				Total	1.155	.813	16
		Total	3.608	2.917	55			Total	Low	1.802	.958	8
	Medium	Low	3.274	2.792	40				Medium	2.075	1.492	17
		Medium	2.446	2.158	61				High	2.062	1.333	32
		High	2.193	1.867	8				Total	2.029	1.333	57
		Total	2.731	2.325	109	Small		Maximum	Low	3.058	2.633	4
	Minimum	Low	.936	.733	14				High	3.252	2.792	22
		Medium	2.035	1.067	19				Total	3.222	2.792	26
		High	1.011	.767	7			Medium	Low	3.335	3.288	8
		Total	1.471	.917	40				Medium	3.556	2.992	7
	Total	Low	3.093	2.763	88				High	1.685	1.367	34
		Medium	2.551	2.017	95				Total	2.222	1.792	49
		High	1.925	1.725	21			Minimum	Low	1.456	1.546	4
		Total	2.720	2.221	204				Medium	1.658		1
Large	Maximum	Low	3.873	3.313	8				High	.949	.667	19
		Medium	4.656	2.717	11				Total	1.063	.738	24
		Total	4.326	3.000	19			Total	Low	2.796	2.763	16
	Medium	Low	1.496	1.150	27				Medium	3.319	2.875	8
		Medium	1.746	1.325	17				High	1.958	1.608	75
		High	.976	1.029	6				Total	2.204	1.850	99
		Total	1.519	1.233	50	Total		Maximum	Low	3.726	3.287	46
	Minimum	Low	.879	.992	8				Medium	4.018	2.767	30
		Medium	.994	.754	16				High	3.108	2.675	37
		High	.549	.471	6				Total	3.601	2.833	113
		Total	.874	.713	30			Medium	Low	2.600	1.987	80
	Total	Low	1.823	1.242	43				Medium	2.369	2.021	92
		Medium	2.200	1.442	44				High	1.738	1.313	64
		High	.763	.613	12				Total	2.276	1.704	236
		Total	1.862	1.242	99			Minimum	Low	1.049	.858	29
Medium	Maximum	Medium	3.721	3.033	4				Medium	1.487	1.008	42
		High	3.073	1.975	9				High	.928	.667	39
		Total	3.272	1.975	13				Total	1.173	.796	110
	Medium	Low	1.992	1.042	5			Total	Low	2.644	2.167	155
		Medium	2.023	2.108	7				Medium	2.445	1.796	164
		High	1.908	1.150	16				High	1.874	1.388	140
		Total	1.952	1.192	28				Total	2.338	1.725	459
	Minimum	Low	1.486	.833	3							

Table 14: Mean time spent supervising maximum, medium, and minimum cases per month by county size, supervision level and probation officer faith in the workload study

As reflected in the earlier data presented in Table 12, officers from Cook County and the larger counties were more negative about their faith in the data generally, and about the validity of the data they personally provided, than officers from the smaller counties. This is also evidenced in Table 14. For instance, among the 204 cases in Cook County that could be linked to scores on the probation officer's level of faith in the data, only 21 cases reflected "high" levels of faith (10 percent). A similarly low percentage is found for cases from large counties (12/99 = 12%). In contrast, the comparable figure for medium-sized counties is 56 percent (32/57) and for smaller counties 76 percent (75/99). Thus, size of county is directly and strongly related to the percentage of cases in each strata for which officers reported differing levels of faith in the data. In essence, the data from the smaller counties may be more valid (i.e., less inflated) than the cases from the larger counties. Accordingly, we suggest that some discounting generally be done on the time estimates provided by officers from the larger counties. Activity Estimates

Probation officers participating in the time study were asked to record every distinct activity they engaged in while the performing the supervision function. Most of these activities involved contact with a person, either the minor, a family member, a service provider, etc. But many activities involved doing a record check, discussing the case with a supervisor, calling a court official, and engaging in other activities not directly involving the minor. The business of casework is multifaceted and this is reflected in the data. In the following section, we summarize the nature of the activities engaged in by supervising officers.

Table 15 presents the average number of distinct activities reported by officers per month per case. As in previous tables, the data are presented by size of county and supervision level.

SIZE	SUPERVISION	Mean	Median	Ν
	LEVEL			
Cook	Maximum	8.66	7.50	75
	Medium	5.45	5.00	243
	Minimum	3.99	3.50	73
	Total	5.79	5.00	391
Large	Maximum	9.21	8.00	31
	Medium	4.35	3.50	72
	Minimum	3.21	2.50	46
	Total	5.01	3.50	149
Medium	Maximum	10.12	8.00	53
	Medium	5.79	5.00	61
	Minimum	3.57	2.50	51
	Total	6.49	5.00	165
Small	Maximum	9.79	8.50	40
	Medium	7.20	6.50	76
	Minimum	3.98	3.00	45
	Total	6.94	6.00	161
Total	Maximum	9.36	8.00	199
	Medium	5.61	4.75	452
	Minimum	3.72	3.00	215
	Total	6.00	5.00	866

 Table 15: Mean number of distinct activities per month by size and supervision level

The table reveals that for the entire data set, an average of six activities are engaged in per month per case. The median is slightly lower at five activities per month. As expected, consistent differences in activity counts are found across supervision level, with minimum supervision cases tending to exhibit slightly more than three activities per month. Each increase in supervision level is associated with approximately three more contact per month. This holds across county size, with inter-county variation being insubstantial.

The next series of tables identify how the types of activities engaged in by probation officers varies across supervision levels and counties. Table 16 presents data on particular activity functions, including intake/interviewing, general supervision, paperwork/ correspondence, case staffings, court hearings, and other. By far, the most common functional activity type is general

SIZE	SUPER- VISION I EVEI		No. of interview activities	No. of info. gathering/r eview	No. of report writing	No. of case staffing activities	No. of court hearing activities	No. of other activities	SIZE	SUPER- VISION 1 EVEI		No. of interview activities	No. of info. gathering/r eview	No. of report writing	No. of case staffing activities	No. of court hearing activities	No. of other activities
			activities	activities	activities	uctivities	uctivities			LLTLL		ucnifines	activities	activities	uctivities	uctivities	
Cook	Maximum	Mean	.2067	6.4467	.9667	.3533	.5800	.1533			Median	.0000	2.5000	1.5000	.0000	.0000	.0000
		Median	.0000	5.5000	.5000	.0000	.5000	.0000			Ν	165	165	165	165	165	165
		Ν	75	75	75	75	75	75	Small	Maximum	Mean	.8625	6.0375	2.1125	.2750	.4125	.2000
	Medium	Mean	.3238	3.6824	.8217	.1496	.3361	.1496			Median	.5000	4.5000	2.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000
		Median	.0000	3.5000	.5000	.0000	.0000	.0000			Ν	40	40	40	40	40	40
-		Ν	244	244	244	244	244	244		Medium	Mean	.9145	4.3750	1.6579	.2632	.2303	9.211E-
	Minimum	Mean	.1458	2.7917	.6944	.1111	.1319	8.333E-02									
		Median	.0000	2.0000	.5000	.0000	.0000	.0000				0000	2 5000	1 0000	0000	0000	02
-		Ν	72	72	72	72	72	72			Median	.0000	3.5000	1.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000
	Total	Mean	.2685	4.0486	.8261	.1816	.3453	.1381			N	/6	/6	/6	/6	/6	/6
		Median	.0000	3.5000	.5000	.0000	.0000	.0000		Minimum	Mean	.5217	2.4891	.9674	.1413	.1304	2.174E-
		Ν	391	391	391	391	391	391									02
Large	Maximum	Mean	.9839	6.0806	1.3387	.7742	.1613	.1935			Median	.0000	2.0000	.5000	.0000	.0000	.0000
		Median	.0000	5.0000	1.0000	.5000	.0000	.0000			Ν	46	46	46	46	46	46
-		Ν	31	31	31	31	31	31		Total	Mean	.7901	4.2500	1.5741	.2315	.2469	9.877E-
	Medium	Mean	.2569	3.3681	.5556	.1250	.1875	4.861E-02									
		Median	.0000	3.0000	.5000	.0000	.0000	.0000									02
-		Ν	72	72	72	72	72	72			Median	.0000	3.0000	1.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000
	Minimum	Mean	.1522	2.4130	.4783	5.435E-02	9.783E-02	7.609E-02			N	162	162	162	162	162	162
		Median	.0000	1.7500	.2500	.0000	.0000	.0000	Total	Maximum	Mean	.5553	5.9899	1.8769	.3618	.4146	.1759
 		Ν	46	46	46	46	46	46			Median	.0000	5.0000	1.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000
	Total	Mean	.3758	3.6376	.6946	.2383	.1544	8.725E-02			N	199	199	199	199	199	199
		Median	.0000	3.0000	.5000	.0000	.0000	.0000		Medium	Mean	.4073	3.7196	1.0309	.1689	.2781	.1192
		Ν	149	149	149	149	149	149			Median	.0000	3.0000	.5000	.0000	.0000	.0000
Medium	Maximum	Mean	.5660	5.2547	3.3019	.1981	.3302	.1792			N	453	453	453	453	453	453
		Median	.0000	4.5000	2.5000	.0000	.0000	.0000		Minimum	Mean	.2372	2.4767	.8116	.1047	.1116	5.349E-
-		N	53	53	53	53	53	53									02
	Medium	Mean	.2869	3.4672	1.6475	.1803	.2131	.1148			Median	.0000	2.0000	.5000	.0000	.0000	.0000
		Median	.0000	3.0000	1.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000			Ν	215	215	215	215	215	215
-		Ν	61	61	61	61	61	61		Total	Mean	.3991	3.9325	1.1707	.1972	.2682	.1159
	Minimum	Mean	.1863	2.0784	1.1373	.1078	7.843E-02	1.961E-02			Median	.0000	3.0000	.5000	.0000	.0000	.0000
		Median	.0000	1.5000	1.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000			N	867	867	867	867	867	867
-		Ν	51	51	51	51	51	51									
	Total	Mean	.3455	3.6121	2.0212	.1636	.2091	.1061									

 Table 16: Mean number of distinct activities per month, by function of activity, county size and supervision level (supervision cases)

supervision, with almost four general supervision activities per month per case across all the supervision cases in the time study. Within the state, minimum cases average slightly more than two general supervision functions per month, medium cases average slightly less than four per month, and maximum cases exhibit an average of six general supervision functions per month. Thus, each increase in supervision level is associated with approximately two additional general supervision activities. This pattern is largely stable across county size, except that in Cook County and the larger counties, general supervision activity counts for medium and minimum supervision cases are not as discrepant (a difference of one activity per month across medium and minimum cases).

Paperwork/correspondence is the second most common activity function for juvenile probation officers, with an average of slightly more than one paperwork/correspondence activity per month per case. In general, as supervision level increases so does paperwork but the relationship is not nearly as strong or as consistent as found with other forms or probation activity. Maximum cases tend to involve twice the number of paperwork activities than either medium or minimum cases (which exhibit similar levels), but in Cook County differences in paperwork activities across supervision levels are almost non-existent. Court hearings are relatively infrequent among supervision cases in the state (about one every four months), with court hearings being more frequent as supervision level increases -- except for the larger counties in which court hearings are very infrequent and not related to supervision level. Court hearings are most frequently reported in Cook County, and especially for maximum supervision cases (an average, one hearing every two months). Case staffings and intake/interview activities occur relatively infrequently across the state.

The methods by which probation officers make contact with others as part of their supervision functions are presented in Table 17. Face-to-face (2.62 contacts per month) and telephone contacts (2.11 contacts per month) are much more commonly made than mail contacts (.29 contact per month). In fact, "other" types of contacts such as fax, notes and being left at residences (.91 contacts per month) are more common than mail contacts. As expected, increases in supervision levels are related to increases in the number of both face-to-face and telephone contacts. This holds true across counties of differing size. However, the mix of face-to-face and telephone contacts varies across counties. In Cook County, the ratio of average face-to-face contacts to telephone contacts per month is 1.6 to 1.0. In contrast, in other counties the ratios of face-to-face and telephone contacts is closer to 1.0 to 1.0 (large, .98 to 1.0; medium, .88 to 1.0; small, 1.15 to 1.0). Thus, perhaps due to increased geographical proximity between officers and the people with whom they must interact, or the availability of mass transit systems, officers in Cook County rely on the telephone less in their supervision functions than officers in other counties within the state.

Table 18 presents information on the types of people with whom probation officers interact in their supervision functions. The most common interactant is the minor probationer, with about two contacts per month. The next most common contact points are the probationers parents with about 1.5 contacts per month. School officials and other collateral contacts are equally common (about one contact per month). Court officials average slightly less than one contact per every two months. Victims are very rarely ever brought into the supervision function. Another type of recorded contact involved an officer making an attempt to link up with someone, but the attempt turned out to be unsuccessful. This type of contact was recorded as "none" on

Table 17: Mean number of face to face, telephone, mail, and other contacts by county size and supervision level(supervision cases)

SIZE	SUPERVISION LEVEL		Number of face to face contacts	Number of telephone contacts	Number of mail contacts	Number of other contacts
Cook	Maximum	Mean	4.5933	2.9200	.2000	.9200
		Median	4.0000	2.0000	.0000	.5000
		Ν	75	75	75	75
	Medium	Mean	2.8545	1.7295	.1209	.7090
		Median	2.5000	1.0000	.0000	.5000
		Ν	244	244	244	244
	Minimum	Mean	1.8819	1.3125	.1458	.5833
		Median	1.5000	1.0000	.0000	.5000
		Ν	72	72	72	72
	Total	Mean	3.0090	1.8811	.1407	.7263
		Median	2.5000	1.0000	.0000	.5000
		Ν	391	391	391	391
Large	Maximum	Mean	3.9516	4.1452	.2258	.6613
		Median	4.0000	2.5000	.0000	.5000
		Ν	31	31	31	31
	Medium	Mean	1.9722	1.7083	.1042	.5139
		Median	1.5000	1.5000	.0000	.5000
		Ν	72	72	72	72
	Minimum	Mean	1.1087	1.4674	.1087	.4130
		Median	1.0000	1.0000	.0000	.2500
		Ν	46	46	46	46
	Total	Mean	2.1174	2.1409	.1309	.5134
		Median	1.5000	1.5000	.0000	.5000
		Ν	149	149	149	149
Medium	Maximum	Mean	3.0755	3.6321	.6604	2.3962
		Median	3.0000	2.5000	.5000	1.5000
		Ν	53	53	53	53
	Medium	Mean	1.9262	2.0410	.5082	1.2459
		Median	1.5000	1.5000	.5000	1.0000
		Ν	61	61	61	61
	Minimum	Mean	1.0784	1.3137	.4804	.6961
		Median	1.0000	1.0000	.5000	.5000
		N	51	51	51	51
	Total	Mean	2.0333	2.3273	.5485	1.4455
		Median	1.5000	1.5000	.5000	1.0000
		Ν	165	165	165	165
Small	Maximum	Mean	4,1000	3.6000	.4750	1.6375

SIZE	SUPERVISION LEVEL		Number of face to face contacts	Number of telephone contacts	Number of mail contacts	Number of other contacts
		Median	3.7500	2.7500	.5000	1.0000
		Ν	40	40	40	40
	Medium	Mean	2.7697	2.4934	.5987	1.1447
		Median	2.5000	1.5000	.2500	.7500
		Ν	76	76	76	76
	Minimum	Mean	1.6304	1.1957	.4239	.7717
		Median	1.2500	1.0000	.2500	.5000
		Ν	46	46	46	46
	Total	Mean	2.7747	2.3981	.5185	1.1605
		Median	2.5000	1.5000	.5000	1.0000
		Ν	162	162	162	162
Total	Maximum	Mean	3.9899	3.4372	.3819	1.4171
		Median	3.5000	2.5000	.0000	1.0000
		Ν	199	199	199	199
	Medium	Mean	2.5751	1.8962	.2506	.8234
		Median	2.0000	1.5000	.0000	.5000
		Ν	453	453	453	453
	Minimum	Mean	1.4721	1.3209	.2767	.6140
		Median	1.0000	1.0000	.0000	.5000
		Ν	215	215	215	215
	Total	Mean	2.6263	2.1073	.2872	.9077
		Median	2.0000	1.5000	.0000	.5000
		Ν	867	867	867	867

SIZE	SUPER-		No. of	No. of	No. of	No. of	No. of	No. of	No. of	SIZE	SUPER-		No. of	No. of	No. of	No. of	No. of	No. of	No. of
	VISION		contacts	contacts	contacts	contacts	contacts	contacts	contacts w/		VISION		contacts	contacts	contacts	contacts	contacts	contacts	contacts w/
	LEVEL		w/minor	w/parents	w/victim	w/school off	with collateral	w/court nersonnel	no individual		LEVEL		w/minor	w/parents	w/victim	w/school off	with collateral	w/court personnel	no individual
Cook	Maximum	Mean	2.9400	2.2267	1.333E-02	1.9400	1.6867	.6400	1.2200			N	51	51	51	51	51	51	51
		Median	2.5000	2.0000	.0000	1.5000	1.0000	.5000	1.0000		Total	Mean	1.7758	1.3939	2.424E-02	.7121	1.1394	.5182	1.6212
		Ν	75	75	75	75	75	75	75			Median	1 5000	1 0000	0000	0000	5000	0000	1.0000
-	Medium	Mean	2.0369	1.5410	.0000	1.1844	.7807	.4139	.9201			N	165	165	165	165	165	165	165
		Median	2.0000	1.0000		1.0000	.5000	.0000	.5000	Small	Maximum	Mean	3.6625	2.5125	.0000	1.7250	1.3625	.5375	1.9500
_		Ν	244	244	244	244	244	244	244			Median	3.5000	2.5000		1.5000	.7500	.5000	1.7500
	Minimum	Mean	1.4653	.8958	.0000	.7361	.4583	.2639	.7431			Ν	40	40	40	40	40	40	40
		Median	1.2500	.5000		.5000	.0000	.0000	.5000		Medium	Mean	2.2895	1.5461	.0000	1.3553	1.2697	.5987	1.2500
		Ν	72	72	72	72	72	72	72			Median	2.0000	1.2500		1.0000	.5000	.0000	1.0000
	Total	Mean	2.1049	1.5537	2.558E-03	1.2468	.8951	.4297	.9450			Ν	76	76	76	76	76	76	76
		Median	2.0000	1.0000	.0000	1.0000	.5000	.0000	.5000		Maximum	Mean	1.4457	.7609	1.087E-02	.7174	.4239	.3152	.9783
		Ν	391	391	391	391	391	391	391			Median	1.2500	.5000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	1.0000
Large	Maximum	Mean	3.1290	2.5000	.0000	1.5000	1.9355	.8065	1.0161			Ν	46	46	46	46	46	46	46
		Median	3.0000	2.0000		1.0000	1.5000	.5000	1.0000		Total	Mean	2.3889	1.5617	3.086E-03	1.2654	1.0525	.5031	1.3457
		Ν	31	31	31	31	31	31	31			Median	2.0000	1.0000	.0000	1.0000	.5000	.0000	1.0000
	Medium	Mean	1.7917	1.6667	.0000	.6111	.6667	.2014	.6389			Ν	162	162	162	162	162	162	162
		Median	1.5000	1.5000		.5000	.5000	.0000	.5000	Total	Maximum	Mean	2.9925	2.3266	7.538E-03	1.6332	1.7010	.6533	1.6859
-		Ν	72	72	72	72	72	72	72			Median	2.5000	2.0000	.0000	1.0000	1.0000	.5000	1.0000
	Minimum	Mean	1.2174	1.0326	2.174E-02	.3478	.4348	.1304	.6196			Ν	199	199	199	199	199	199	199
		Median	1.0000	1.0000	.0000	.2500	.0000	.0000	.5000		Medium	Mean	1.9989	1.5055	5.519E-03	1.0541	.8642	.4382	.9989
-		Ν	46	46	46	46	46	46	46			Median	1.5000	1.0000	.0000	.5000	.5000	.0000	.5000
	Total	Mean	1.8926	1.6443	6.711E-03	.7148	.8591	.3054	.7114			Ν	453	453	453	453	453	453	453
		Median	1.5000	1.5000	.0000	.5000	.5000	.0000	.5000		Minimum	Mean	1.3209	.8860	1.163E-02	.5302	.4953	.2419	.8047
		Ν	149	149	149	149	149	149	149	İ		Median	1.0000	.5000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.5000
Medium	Maximum	Mean	2.4811	2.2264	9.434E-03	1.2075	1.8396	.6698	2.5377			Ν	215	215	215	215	215	215	215
		Median	2.5000	1.5000	.0000	1.0000	1.0000	.5000	1.5000		Total	Mean	2.0588	1.5404	7.497E-03	1.0571	.9648	.4389	1.1084
-		Ν	53	53	53	53	53	53	53			Median	1.5000	1.0000	.0000	.5000	.5000	.0000	.5000
	Medium	Mean	1.7295	1.1230	4.098E-02	.6803	.9262	.6148	1.4262			N	867	867	867	867	867	867	867
		Median	1.5000	1.0000	.0000	.5000	.0000	.5000	1.0000										
-		Ν	61	61	61	61	61	61	61										
	Minimum	Mean	1.0980	.8529	1.961E-02	.2353	.6667	.2451	.9020										

Table 18: Mean number of contacts (per month) with different persons by county size and supervision level (supervision cases)

.0000

Median 1.0000

.5000

.0000

.0000

.0000

.5000

the data forms. Notably, "none" is a contact type that occurs relatively frequently -- an average, one contact per month.

Similar patterns evidenced elsewhere are found with this variable; across all sized counties, as supervision levels increase so do contacts with minors, parents, school officials, and collateral contacts. Within medium and small counties, the number of contacts with court personnel are roughly equivalent across maximum and medium cases, which are roughly two to three times greater than for minimum cases. In general, contact levels with minors on maximum supervision are twice as great as that found with minors on minimum supervision, which in turn are about fifty percent lower than that evidenced with minors on medium supervision.

The location of probation officer activity is the focus of Table 19. By far, the most common location of probation officer activity is the probation office. On average, 3.59 activities occur per month per case in the office. The next most common location is the minor's school (.77 activities), with the minor's residence close behind (.72 activities). Activities at other locations are relatively infrequent, including court (.35 activities), and either detention or child care facilities (.05 activities each). Unfortunately, these data indicate probation officers may be more office-bound than would be desirable from a strong casework perspective. Perhaps not surprisingly given the great distances officers in rural areas often have to travel to get to a minor's house or school, officers in medium and small counties appear more office-bound that their counterparts in larger jurisdictions. For instance, among maximum supervision cases in the smallest counties, the ratio of office contacts to contacts at the minor's residence is 5.9 to 1.0. The ratio between office and school-based contacts for the same set of cases is 8.6 to 1.0. In contrast, within Cook

SIZE	SUPERVISIO N LEVEL		No. of contacts at probation office	No. of contacts at minor's home	No. of contacts at detention	No. of contacts at child care facility	No. of contacts at court	No. of contacts at school	No. of other contacts
Cook	Maximum	Mean	3.8867	1.1133	9.333E-02	7.333E-02	.6867	1.7533	1.0267
		Median	3.0000	1.0000	.0000	.0000	.5000	1.0000	.5000
-		Ν	75	75	75	75	75	75	75
	Medium	Mean	2.6045	.8504	6.967E-02	2.869E-02	.4590	1.0451	.3545
		Median	2.0000	.5000	.0000	.0000	.2500	1.0000	.0000
		Ν	244	244	244	244	244	244	244
	Minimum	Mean	2.0694	.5417	.0000	6.944E-03	.2153	.8333	.2569
		Median	1.5000	.5000		.0000	.0000	.5000	.0000
		Ν	72	72	72	72	72	72	72
	Total	Mean	2.7519	.8440	6.138E-02	3.325E-02	.4578	1.1419	.4655
		Median	2.0000	.5000	.0000	.0000	.0000	1.0000	.0000
		Ν	391	391	391	391	391	391	391
Large	Maximum	Mean	5.8710	1.7903	.1452	8.065E-02	.1935	.7097	.2258
		Median	4.0000	1.5000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.5000	.0000
		Ν	31	31	31	31	31	31	31
	Medium	Mean	2.5833	1.0556	6.944E-03	4.861E-02	.1736	.3889	.1181
		Median	2.0000	1.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000
		Ν	72	72	72	72	72	72	72
	Minimum	Mean	2.2935	.6087	.0000	2.174E-02	7.609E-02	9.783E-02	.1087
		Median	1.7500	.5000		.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000
		Ν	46	46	46	46	46	46	46
	Total	Mean	3.1779	1.0705	3.356E-02	4.698E-02	.1477	.3658	.1376
		Median	2.5000	1.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000
		Ν	149	149	149	149	149	149	149
Medium	Maximum	Mean	6.6887	.5755	.1981	.2830	.4528	.6132	.9434
		Median	5.5000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.5000
		Ν	53	53	53	53	53	53	53
	Medium	Mean	3.9590	.5082	4.918E-02	4.098E-02	.3197	.5082	.3443
		Median	3.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000
		Ν	61	61	61	61	61	61	61
	Minimum	Mean	2.8627	.1078	.0000	.1078	9.804E-02	.1765	.2157

 Table 19: Mean number of contacts (per month) at a specific location by county size and supervision level (supervision cases)

SIZE	SUPERVISIO N LEVEL		No. of contacts at probation office	No. of contacts at minor's home	No. of contacts at detention	No. of contacts at child care facility	No. of contacts at court	No. of contacts at school	No. of other contacts
		Median	2.5000	.0000		.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000
		Ν	51	51	51	51	51	51	51
	Total	Mean	4.4970	.4061	8.182E-02	.1394	.2939	.4394	.4970
		Median	3.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000
		Ν	165	165	165	165	165	165	165
Small	Maximum	Mean	6.4500	1.0875	8.750E-02	1.250E-02	.5000	.7500	.8875
		Median	5.5000	.5000	.0000	.0000	.5000	.5000	.5000
		Ν	40	40	40	40	40	40	40
	Medium	Mean	5.4145	.2763	1.974E-02	2.632E-02	.3158	.6711	.2961
		Median	4.5000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.5000	.0000
		Ν	76	76	76	76	76	76	76
	Minimum	Mean	3.3043	7.609E-02	1.087E-02	1.087E-02	.1522	.3370	.1304
		Median	3.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000
		Ν	46	46	46	46	46	46	46
	Total	Mean	5.0710	.4198	3.395E-02	1.852E-02	.3148	.5957	.3951
		Median	4.5000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000
		Ν	162	162	162	162	162	162	162
Total	Maximum	Mean	5.4573	1.0704	.1281	.1181	.5101	1.0854	.8518
		Median	4.5000	.5000	.0000	.0000	.5000	.5000	.5000
		Ν	199	199	199	199	199	199	199
	Medium	Mean	3.2550	.7406	4.857E-02	3.311E-02	.3709	.8057	.3057
		Median	2.5000	.5000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.5000	.0000
		Ν	453	453	453	453	453	453	453
	Minimum	Mean	2.5698	.3535	2.326E-03	3.488E-02	.1442	.4140	.1884
		Median	2.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.0000
		Ν	215	215	215	215	215	215	215
	Total	Mean	3.5905	.7203	5.536E-02	5.306E-02	.3466	.7728	.4020
		Median	2.5000	.5000	.0000	.0000	.0000	.5000	.0000
		Ν	867	867	867	867	867	867	867

 Table 19: Mean number of contacts (per month) at a specific location by county size and supervision level (supervision cases) (continued)

County the comparable ratios are 3.4 to 1.0 and 1.75 to 1.0, respectively. In many instances, and especially within the smallest counties, these ratios become even more pronounced when focus is placed on minimum supervision cases. Among these cases, where it is very rare for officers to conduct either home or school visits, the ratios skyrocket (43.4 to 1.0).

Whether contacts occur in a probation office, a probationer's residence or school, most observers of probation work feel that the essence of effective probation work is face-to-face contact with the probationer. Whether an assistance or control model of probation is endorsed, both are premised on the regular and recurring contact between the probation officer and the offender. Neither assistance nor control will likely be achieved if officer and offender do not have at least a minimal level of information exchange, a common set of behavioral expectations, and the ability to manipulate moral and legal definitions of immediate situations and behaviors. These minimal elements require officer/offender contact and the development of interpersonal relations between the two. Their importance is obvious, and is recognized in the basic structure of probation and parole organizations. For instance, most agencies assign offenders to personal agent caseloads and require a minimum level of contact between officer and offender.

Table 20 presents some basic information which addresses how much time is actually spent by juvenile probation officers in face-to-face contact with their clients. For all supervision cases, slightly more than fifty percent of all supervision time involves face-to-face contact with the minor (mean = 54.7%, median = 57%). This percentage is based on officers spending an average of 1.21 hours a month in direct contact with their clients. As would be expected, the amount of time spent with juvenile clients increases monotonically as supervision level increases. Minors on minimum supervision spend on average .69 hours per month in

Table 20: Mean percentage of supervision time and mean monthly activity time attributable to face to face contact with minor, by county size and supervision level (supervision cases)

SIZE	SUPERVISION LEVEL	Mean monthly activity time (in hrs.) for face to face contacts with minor	Mean Percent	Median Percent	Ν
Cook	Maximum	2.04	49.5	54.0	75
	Medium	1.47	56.2	60.2	244
	Minimum	.82	56.9	59.9	72
	Total	1.46	55.0	59.2	391
Large	Maximum	1.80	52.7	59.3	31
	Medium	.97	61.0	64.5	72
	Minimum	.73	59.7	68.9	46
	Total	1.07	58.9	65.2	149
Medium	Maximum	1.35	49.9	51.3	53
	Medium	.82	46.1	45.0	61
	Minimum	.55	54.1	57.9	51
	Total	.91	49.8	49.3	165
Small	Maximum	1.63	55.1	57.0	40
	Medium	1.00	54.6	54.1	76
	Minimum	.59	56.4	58.2	46
	Total	1.04	55.2	56.5	162
Total	Maximum	1.74	51.2	54.2	199
	Medium	1.22	55.3	57.1	453
	Minimum	.69	56.7	59.2	215
	Total	1.21	54.7	57.0	867

face-to-face contact with their officers, those on medium supervision average 1.22 hours per month, and maximum supervision clients average 1.74 hours per month. The increase averages about one-half hour per month as one moves up supervision levels. This pattern is very stable across differently sized counties.

These increases are not translated into an increased percentage of total supervision time spent by officers in face-to-face contact with their clients -- the percentage is relatively stable across supervision level. This also holds true across size of county. Within each category of county size, the range of differences in mean percents is narrow, never increasing more than eight percent between maximum supervision cases and minimum cases (49.5% to 56.9% in Cook County). Thus, while officers may spend more total time with juveniles on their

caseload as supervision level increases, the increase tends to be proportionate to the increases necessitated by other supervision requirements.

The preceding analyses have presented a great deal of descriptive data on supervision time and activities as they relate to juvenile probation in Illinois. The data clearly indicate that supervision time and activities are strongly related to supervision level and suggest that county size also plays a significant role in determining the nature of juvenile probation services. The question remains, however, what is the relative influence of these factors? Moreover, nor attempt has yet been made to explore the influence of probationer age, race, and gender on supervision practices. To provide some insight on these issues, a multiple regression analysis was conducted. A series of variables including supervision level, probationer age, probationer gender, probationer race, case status (i.e., probation, continued under supervision, informal supervision), and county size were regressed on the dependent variable, average monthly supervision time. All variables but supervision level and age were dummy coded and all the independent variables were introduced into a stepwise regression model.

Table 21 presents the coefficients from the best fitting model, which still explains only 23 percent of the variation in average monthly supervision time. Supervision level is by far the strongest determinant, with supervision time decreasing .4 hours with every decrease in supervision level. Cases from Cook County also witness increased supervision time (.22 hours) as do cases from the smaller counties (.08 hours). Older probationers also witness slightly more supervision time (.075 hours), and persons on informal supervision receive slightly lower levels of supervision (.09 hours). Importantly, the race and gender of the probationer appear not to affect supervision time. Additionally, size of county is not a key factor in determining supervision time;

Table 21: Results from multiple regression analysis of average monthly supervision time, supervision cases only with extreme outliers excluded, n = 789

Variable	B^{a}	Beta ^b	Sig.
Constant	6.136		
Supervision Level	927	397	.000
Cook County	732	228	.000
Informal Supervision	.678	.091	.006
Age	077	075	.018
Small Counties	318	078	.026

Adjusted $R^2 = .23$

^a Unstandardized Coefficients

^b Standardized Coefficients

rather it is being supervised in either Cook or the smallest county in the study. Larger and medium sized counties appear to have no distinctive impact on supervision time. It is important to also note that while supervision in Cook County does appear to play a role, the reason why is not provided by these results. It may still have something to do with the accuracy of the data provided by Cook County officers or something that is distinctive about the Cook Count juvenile probation population. In any case, which unexplained variance in monthly supervision time remains and subsequent research should attempt to explain that variation.

Social Histories

Conducting social histories on minors who find their way into the Illinois juvenile court system is an integral component of juvenile probation work, a component that demands a great portion of all juvenile probation resources. It is important to better understand the time it takes to complete a social history, and the activities associated with the task. Accordingly, this section of the report follows the presentation format utilized

above. Differences in this section include time and activity estimates based on the full amount of time it takes to complete a social history. A total of 85 social histories were included in the study sample. These included four partial and supplemental social histories. Given the small number of such cases and their major differences with full social histories, these cases were excluded from the following analysis, resulting in a sample size of 81.

Table 22 presents estimates of the mean amount of time it takes to complete a social history. The time estimates include actual activity time, time spent traveling, and time spent waiting. All these estimates are presented across the county size variable. For ease of interpretation, the total time estimates to complete a social history are also presented in graphic form in Figure 2.

SIZE		Total time spent supervising each case	Total time spent on activities per case	Total time spent traveling per case	Total time spent waiting per case
Cook	Mean	8.656	5.686	1.359	1.611
	Median	8.017	5.117	1.300	1.350
	Ν	31	31	31	31
Large	Mean	9.421	8.655	.742	2.391E-02
	Median	8.800	8.050	.583	.000
	Ν	23	23	23	23
Medium	Mean	12.129	10.361	1.146	.622
	Median	11.825	10.325	.858	.417
	Ν	16	16	16	16
Small	Mean	8.180	7.785	.152	.244
	Median	7.083	6.833	.000	.250
	Ν	11	11	11	11
Total	Mean	9.495	7.738	.978	.779
	Median	8.667	6.567	.750	.333
	Ν	81	81	81	81

 Table 22: Mean total time spent (in hrs.) for each case on activities, traveling, and waiting by county size (social history cases)



The table reveals that, on average, across the state, it takes about 9.5 hours to complete a social history. Officers from medium sized counties reported the greatest amount of time to complete a social history (over 12 hours). In other counties, the time estimates were more similar, averaging between 8.2 (small counties) and 9.4 hours (large counties). As with case supervision functions, officers from Cook County reported the greatest average amount of time traveling (1.4 hours) and waiting (1.6 hours) when conducting social histories. These estimates are markedly higher than those witnessed in the smallest jurisdictions (.15 hours traveling and .24 hours waiting).

The data in Table 23 suggest that readers should have more confidence in these data than perhaps should be placed on the supervision data. Although the sample sizes on which the estimates are based are quite

small, officers who expressed a high level of faith in the data did not generate time estimates necessary to complete social histories that varied markedly from those who expressed less faith in the data (10.16 hours vs. 9.26 and 9.08 hours).

PO FAITH	Mean	Median	Minimum	Maximum	Ν
Low	9.083	10.167	5.0	12.1	3
Medium	9.263	7.567	5.0	16.2	9
High	10.157	7.983	4.0	21.6	9
Total	9.621	7.983	4.0	21.6	21

Table 23: Total mean time (in hrs.) performing social history functions per case,by probation officer faith in the time data

Table 24 reports the distinct number of activities engaged in by probation officers while completing social histories. The average across the sample of departments is 17 activities, with officers in medium (25.0) and large counties (18.2) reporting more activities than officers in either Cook County (13.4) or the smallest counties (12.6). These differences correspond to the differing level of time estimates presented in Table 22. Why such a large degree of variation exists across counties is unclear.

 Table 24:
 Mean total number of distinct activities for social history cases

SIZE	Mean	Median	N
Cook	13.45	11.00	31
Large	18.22	18.00	23
Medium	25.06	25.00	16
Small	12.64	11.00	11
Total	16.99	14.00	81

Distinct types of activities associated with the completion of social histories are presented in Table 25. Consistent with the basic nature of social histories, the modal activity reported by probation officers is gathering and reviewing information (5.19). Surprisingly, there is a negative relationship between size of county and average number of information gathering activities. The smallest departments exhibit more of this activity, on average, than that evidenced in Cook County (7.0 vs. 4.13). In contrast, officers in the smallest counties report markedly fewer interviewing activities (1.64) than officers elsewhere -- especially officers from medium-sized counties (6.50). In general, across all activity categories, officers from medium-sized counties report the greatest activity level.

SIZE		Number of interviewing activities	Number of info. gathering/review activities	Number of report writing/proofrea ding activities	Number of case staffing activities	Number of court hearing activities	Number of other activities
Cook	Mean	3.74	4.13	2.23	.48	1.29	1.74
	Median	3.00	3.00	2.00	.00	1.00	1.00
	Ν	31	31	31	31	31	31
Large	Mean	5.30	5.30	3.35	.78	.17	2.22
	Median	3.00	4.00	2.00	.00	.00	1.00
	Ν	23	23	23	23	23	23
Medium	Mean	6.50	5.81	4.81	2.13	1.38	2.69
	Median	4.50	4.00	4.00	1.00	1.00	2.00
	Ν	16	16	16	16	16	16
Small	Mean	1.64	7.00	3.27	.27	1.00	.64
	Median	1.00	5.00	3.00	.00	1.00	.00
	Ν	11	11	11	11	11	11
Total	Mean	4.44	5.19	3.20	.86	.95	1.91
	Median	3.00	4.00	3.00	.00	1.00	1.00
	Ν	81	81	81	81	81	81

Table 25: Mean total number of distinct activities per month, by function of activity, and county size (social history cases)

Tables 26 to 28 present data on the types of activities, persons with whom officers interact, and the location of activities associated with the completion of social histories. The data suggest the process of completing social histories is quite distinct across differently sized counties. For instance, Table 26 reveals that the use of the U.S. Post Office to aid in the conduct of social histories is non-existent in Cook County, whereas as the size of the jurisdiction decreases, the use of mail increases. The use of the telephone is relatively infrequent in both Cook County and the smallest counties. In Cook County, face-to-face contacts are the most commonly

utilized method of activity whereas use of telephone calls is the modal activity category in the other large counties. These patterns are perplexing, but likely involves differing traditions that have evolved over time in how social histories are conducted. Placing value judgments of these patterns is problematic.

SIZE		Number of face to face contacts	Number of telephone contacts	Number of mail contacts	Number of other contacts
Cook	Mean	6.39	3.45	.00	3.58
	Median	6.00	3.00		3.00
	Ν	31	31	31	31
Large	Mean	5.43	5.65	1.13	4.87
	Median	5.00	5.00	1.00	4.00
	Ν	23	23	23	23
Medium	Mean	6.19	8.12	1.75	6.38
	Median	6.00	6.50	1.00	6.00
	Ν	16	16	16	16
Small	Mean	2.91	2.27	2.00	5.09
	Median	3.00	2.00	1.00	4.00
	Ν	11	11	11	11
Total	Mean	5.60	4.84	.94	4.70
	Median	5.00	3.00	.00	4.00
	Ν	81	81	81	81

Table 26: Mean number of face to face, telephone, mail, and other contacts for social history cases by county size

Table 27 suggests that parent are considered very valuable sources of information when conducting social histories, at least as valuable as the minor. Within each category of county size, the number of contacts with parents equals or exceeds the number of contacts with the youth in question. School and court officials are also contacted, on average, once or twice to collect information, and this does not vary across jurisdictions. Another constant is lack of contact with victims and the common inability to access people who are sought for information when officers are doing social histories. In fact, the most common contact outcome across the state is the inability to hook up with an intended information source (average of 4.69 attempts per case).

SIZE		Number of contacts w/minor	Number of contacts w/parents	Number of contacts w/victim	Number of contacts w/school official	Number of contacts w/collateral	Number of contacts w/court personnel	Number of contacts w/no one
Cook	Mean	4.58	4.35	.00	1.55	1.71	1.32	3.55
	Median	4.00	4.00		1.00	1.00	1.00	4.00
	Ν	31	31	31	31	31	31	31
Large	Mean	3.87	4.61	.17	1.48	3.39	1.74	4.74
	Median	3.00	4.00	.00	1.00	3.00	1.00	4.00
	Ν	23	23	23	23	23	23	23
Medium	Mean	3.75	4.88	.00	1.94	6.25	2.81	6.63
	Median	3.00	4.00		1.50	4.50	2.50	6.00
	Ν	16	16	16	16	16	16	16
Small	Mean	2.09	2.27	.00	1.36	3.55	1.18	5.00
	Median	2.00	2.00		1.00	2.00	1.00	5.00
	Ν	11	11	11	11	11	11	11
Total	Mean	3.88	4.25	4.94E-02	1.58	3.33	1.72	4.69
	Median	3.00	4.00	.00	1.00	2.00	1.00	4.00
	Ν	81	81	81	81	81	81	81

Table 27: Mean number of contacts with different persons for social history cases by county size

The distinctive nature of how social histories are conducted across counties is further evidenced by the data presented in Table 28. In the smallest jurisdictions, probation officers assigned a social history tend not to leave their office. When they do, they typically go upstairs or across the street to visit the court. In contrast, in Cook County investigative officers go the minor's residence on average about twice to complete the social history, visit the minor's school, and sometimes follows the child to detention. Surprisingly, detention visits are common within the medium-sized jurisdictions, but not nearly as so in other counties. However, as all the social history data have revealed, officers from medium-sized jurisdictions appear to put much more time into the completion of a social history than officers in other sized counties.

Juvenile Intakes

The focus now turns to juvenile intakes. The number of intakes is quite small (n = 33), resulting in unstable estimates and the inability to tease out interrelationships within the intake case sample. Accordingly,

SIZE		Number of contacts at probation office	Number of contacts at minor's residence	Number of contacts at detention	Number of contacts at child care facility	Number of contacts at court	Number of contacts at school	Number of contacts at other locations
Cook	Mean	7.16	1.90	.42	3.23E-02	1.71	1.45	.77
	Median	7.00	2.00	.00	.00	1.00	1.00	.00
	Ν	31	31	31	31	31	31	31
Large	Mean	14.35	1.13	.35	.00	.39	.26	.61
	Median	13.00	1.00	.00		.00	.00	.00
	Ν	23	23	23	23	23	23	23
Medium	Mean	14.63	.63	1.56	.94	2.31	.56	2.19
	Median	12.50	.50	.00	.00	2.00	.00	2.00
	Ν	16	16	16	16	16	16	16
Small	Mean	10.55	.00	.00	.00	1.00	9.09E-02	1.00
	Median	8.00				1.00	.00	.00
	Ν	11	11	11	11	11	11	11
Total	Mean	11.14	1.17	.57	.20	1.36	.75	1.04
	Median	9.00	1.00	.00	.00	1.00	.00	.00
	Ν	81	81	81	81	81	81	81

Table 28: Mean total number of contacts at a specificlocation for social history cases, by county size

the following analysis will brief and intended primarily for heuristic purposes.

Table 29 presents time estimates on how long it takes to perform an intake, and the time it takes to perform various activities. Note that Cook County is not included in the data. They did not provide any intake cases to the study because their intake processes are unique within the state. The highly skewed average time it takes to conduct an intake is 4.6 hours, but a more appropriate measure may be the median, which is 3.1 hours. Larger counties report less average time to complete an intake (3.26 hours) than either medium (6.71 hours) or small (5.32) counties. The variation across counties is large, perhaps reflecting that officers in medium-sized, as was with the case with social histories, engage in a much higher level of activity when conducting intakes than do officers in other sized counties. The variation above may also reflect how variable mean time estimates are in relation to the intake officer's faith in the time study data. Asindicated in Table 30, persons with a high level of

SIZE		Total time of supervision	Total time of activities	Total time traveling	Total time waiting
Large	Mean	3.261	2.677	.442	.143
	Median	2.525	2.192	.358	.000
	Ν	16	16	16	16
Medium	Mean	6.710	5.310	1.167	.233
	Median	5.500	4.167	.250	.000
	Ν	7	7	7	7
Small	Mean	5.318	4.715	.533	7.000E-02
	Median	4.075	3.550	.367	.000
	Ν	10	10	10	10
Total	Mean	4.616	3.853	.623	.140
	Median	3.100	2.967	.333	.000
	Ν	33	33	33	33

Table 29: Mean time spent per month (in hrs.) performing activities,traveling, and waiting on intake cases by size of county

faith in the data generated means more than twice those generated by officers with a low level of faith in the data. The samples are too small to further disaggregate the data, but it may simply be the cases that medium sized counties simply employ a few more officers who filled out the data forms more completely than witnessed in the larger counties. With samples of this size, idiosyncratic situations like this can greatly impact parameter estimates. For instance, in Table 31 it is reported that medium-sized counties average 18 distinct activities during the completion of an intake. This figure is 50 percent higher than the activity count for smaller counties (12), and almost 250 percent higher than that reported in large counties (7). It is difficult to believe that intake processes and time efforts can be so effort across counties generally.

Table 30:	Total mean time performing intake functions per case,
	by probation officer faith in the time data

PO FAITH	Mean	Median	N
Low	2.957	2.000	7
Medium	5.050	4.767	6
High	6.227	5.283	8
Total	4.801	3.750	21
SIZE	Mean	Median	Ν
--------	-------	--------	----
Large	7.25	5.50	16
Medium	18.00	17.00	7
Small	12.10	9.50	10
Total	11.00	8.00	33

 Table 31: Mean number of contacts for intake cases by size of county

Tables 32 through 35 follow the same format of data presentation as was provided in the analysis of the supervision and social history cases. These data tend to reinforce the notion that officers conducting intakes in medium sized counties initiate more activities and spend more time in those activities than officers in other-sized counties. This includes engaging in more paperwork and correspondence than officers elsewhere, supervising the minor during the intake process, making more phone calls and writing more letters, and having more meetings with the minor, school officials, and a variety of collateral contacts than officers in other-sized counties. These

SIZE		Number of intake interviewing/info . gathering contacts	Number of general supervision contacts	Number of paper/correspon d. contacts	Number of case staffing contacts	Number of court hearing contacts	Number of other contacts
Large	Mean	2.63	2.94	1.50	.44	6.25E-02	.00
	Median	3.00	2.00	2.00	.00	.00	
	Ν	16	16	16	16	16	16
Medium	Mean	1.86	11.00	4.71	.43	.14	.43
	Median	1.00	7.00	3.00	.00	.00	.00
	Ν	7	7	7	7	7	7
Small	Mean	4.60	4.10	1.90	1.00	.50	.50
	Median	4.50	1.50	1.50	.00	.00	.00
	Ν	10	10	10	10	10	10
Total	Mean	3.06	5.00	2.30	.61	.21	.24
	Median	3.00	2.00	2.00	.00	.00	.00
	Ν	33	33	33	33	33	33

 Table 32: Mean number of assorted contacts for intake cases by size of county

activities are all engaged in primarily in the probation office. In smaller counties, intake officers a greater level of intake interviewing and information gathering than officers elsewhere, and reported a greater and more diverse set of intake activities than officers in the large counties.

SIZE		Number of face to face contacts	Number of telephone contacts	Number of mail contacts	Number of other contacts
Large	Mean	2.94	2.81	.31	1.13
	Median	2.00	2.00	.00	1.00
	Ν	16	16	16	16
Medium	Mean	6.43	6.86	1.43	3.29
	Median	6.00	7.00	.00	3.00
	Ν	7	7	7	7
Small	Mean	5.40	3.70	.50	2.50
	Median	5.00	1.50	.00	2.50
	Ν	10	10	10	10
Total	Mean	4.42	3.94	.61	2.00
	Median	3.00	2.00	.00	2.00
	Ν	33	33	33	33

Table 33: Mean number of face to face, telephone, mail and other contactsfor intake cases by size of county

SIZE		Number of contacts w/minor	Number of contacts w/parents	Number of contacts w/victim	Number of contacts w/school official	Number of contacts w/collateral	Number of contacts w/court personnel	Number of contacts w/none
Large	Mean	3.19	3.25	.00	.75	.69	.56	1.19
	Median	2.50	2.00		.50	.00	.00	1.00
	Ν	16	16	16	16	16	16	16
Medium	Mean	7.00	2.71	.00	2.71	4.86	.57	4.00
	Median	7.00	2.00		1.00	.00	.00	3.00
	Ν	7	7	7	7	7	7	7
Small	Mean	4.70	4.50	.00	1.60	1.60	.70	2.60
	Median	4.00	3.50		.50	.50	.50	2.50
	Ν	10	10	10	10	10	10	10
Total	Mean	4.45	3.52	.00	1.42	1.85	.61	2.21
	Median	4.00	3.00		1.00	.00	.00	2.00
	Ν	33	33	33	33	33	33	33

Given these fairly large differences across counties and the small sample sizes, it would be prudent to view these intake data with skepticism. Only a much larger study on intake processes in the state could reveal the actual time and activity dimensions of juvenile probation intake.

 Table 35: Mean number of contacts at a specific location for intake cases by size of county

SIZE		Number of contacts at probation office	Number of contacts at minor's residence	Number of contacts at detention	Number of contacts at child care facility	Number of contacts at court	Number of contacts at school	Number of contacts at other locations
Large	Mean	5.44	1.44	.13	.00	6.25E-02	.13	6.25E-02
	Median	4.50	1.00	.00		.00	.00	.00
	Ν	16	16	16	16	16	16	16
Medium	Mean	11.43	1.57	.43	.86	.29	1.71	1.71
	Median	9.00	.00	.00	.00	.00	.00	.00
	Ν	7	7	7	7	7	7	7
Small	Mean	8.80	.90	1.00E-01	.00	.60	.60	1.10
	Median	6.00	1.00	.00		.50	.00	.00
	Ν	10	10	10	10	10	10	10
Total	Mean	7.73	1.30	.18	.18	.27	.61	.73
	Median	5.00	1.00	.00	.00	.00	.00	.00
	Ν	33	33	33	33	33	33	33

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

This final report has attempted to provide AOIC and relevant stakeholders of juvenile probation in Illinois with a basic empirical foundation to better understand what probation officers do during the course of their work. A focus has been placed on generating estimates of the amount of time it takes to supervise minors on probation, to conduct social histories, and to provide intake services. These are core functions of probation. A secondary focus was to report on the nature of activities that take place during the performance of these functions. The goal of providing detailed and reliable information on these processes was much more fully achieved in relation to the supervision function than to either the social history or intake function. This is largely because the data collection efforts by AOIC focused on supervision cases.

Consequently, a much larger number of supervision cases (n = 867) were included in the study than either social history (n = 85) or intake cases (n = 33). AOIC made a very good faith effort to collect quality data on a representative sampling of cases. Unfortunately, random sampling of cases was not possible. Further, despite strong communication and training efforts to encourage and train probation officers to comply with the study requirements fully, the survey data presented in this report suggest that many of the participating officers generated data of questionable value. Almost half of the respondents in our survey reported they personally generated data that didn't accurately reflect their actual work activity and more than half of the responding officers reported having low levels of faith in the validity of the general data set. Thus, readers need to be cautious in making strong inferences about what these data say or do not say, and very deliberate in thinking about the implications of these data for policy and practice.

Despite these caveats, the data do tell us certain things. They tell us that supervision level has real impact on the amount of time officers take in supervising juvenile probationers, and that the number and types of activities engaged in during the supervision process varies considerably across supervision level. The data also tell us there are differences in supervision across jurisdictions. While the data set is not large enough to identify specific county impacts on supervision practices (except for Cook County), there is a notable level of variation between Cook County, large counties, medium-sized counties, and small counties in the average length of supervision time and what is done during that time. In addition, the data illustrate that the completion of social histories is a very time consuming task and that differing sized counties exhibit distinct patterns in how probation officers go about doing the work of conducting social investigations. Finally, these data have not significantly enhanced our understanding of juvenile intake processes.

Some of the more important findings from this study include:

- # Officers on average spent 2.24 hours per case per month in activities related to the supervision of juvenile probation cases. Roughly 61 percent of the officers' time involved actually being engaged in a supervision activity (1.36 hours), 24 percent of the time was spent traveling to and from locations (.53 hours), and the remaining 15 percent of the time was devoted to waiting for an activity to take place (e.g., sitting in a courthouse waiting for a hearing to commence). Median figures tend to be roughly 70 to 75 percent of the mean. Thus, it is safe to conclude that a typical probation case in Illinois appears to involve about two hours of supervision time per month, with approximately sixty percent of the time involving actual engagement in the supervision activity.
- # Maximum supervision cases involve an average of 3.4 hours of supervision time per month, while medium supervision cases take 2.22 hours per month and minimum cases take 1.22 hours per month. Each increase in supervision level is associated with approximately a one hour increase in supervision time. Across supervision levels, activity time is roughly 60 percent of total time, travel time is 25 percent of total time, and waiting time represents 15 percent of total time.
- # Across supervision levels, officers in Cook County tend to spend slightly more time on each case than officers elsewhere in the state -- roughly one-half hour more per month per case.
- # The difference in supervision time between Cook and the other counties appears largely driven by the fact that Cook County officers tend to spend more time traveling and waiting than officers in other counties. Actual time in the activity is not much different in Cook County than it is in other counties.
- # Some caution should be applied in interpreting the time estimates because officers who expressed the highest faith in the data uniformly reported lower monthly mean time estimates across supervision levels than those who expressed less faith in the data.
- # The data from the smaller counties may be more valid (i.e., less inflated) than the data from Cook County and the other large counties because officers who expressed less faith in the data were concentrated in larger counties and those same officers tended to report greater amounts of time to supervise cases.
- # An average of six activities are engaged in per month per case during the supervision function. The median is slightly lower at five activities per month.
- Each increase in supervision level is associated with approximately three more contacts per month.This holds across county size, with inter-county variation being insubstantial.
- # By far, the most common functional activity type is general supervision, with almost four general

supervision activities per month per case across all the supervision cases in the time study. Within the state, minimum cases average slightly more than two general supervision functions per month, medium cases average slightly less than four per month, and maximum cases exhibit an average of six general supervision functions per month. Thus, each increase in supervision level is associated with approximately two additional general supervision activities. Little variation in these patterns are exhibited across counties.

- # Paperwork/correspondence is the second most common activity function for juvenile probation officers, with an average of slightly more than one paperwork/correspondence activity per month per case. In general, as supervision level increases so does paperwork but the relationship is not nearly as strong or as consistent as found with other forms or probation activity.
- # By far, the most common location of probation officer activity is the probation office. On average, 3.59 activities occur per month per case in the office. The next most common location is the minor's school (.77 activities), with the minor's residence close behind (.72 activities). Activities at other locations are relatively infrequent, including court (.35 activities), and either detention or child care facilities (.05 activities each). Officers in medium and small counties appear more office-bound that their counterparts in larger jurisdictions.
- # For all supervision cases, slightly more than fifty percent of all supervision time involves face-to-face contact with the minor (mean = 54.7%, median = 57%). This percentage is based on officers spending an average of 1.21 hours a month in direct contact with their clients. Minors on minimum supervision spend on average .69 hours per month in face-to-face contact with their officers, those on medium supervision average 1.22 hours per month, and maximum supervision clients average 1.74 hours per month.
- # On average, across the state it takes about 9.5 hours to complete a social history. Officers from medium sized counties reported the greatest amount of time to complete a social history (over 12 hours).
- # As with case supervision functions, officers from Cook County reported the greatest average amount of time traveling (1.4 hours) and waiting (1.6 hours) when conducting social histories.
- # The distinct number of activities engaged in by probation officers while completing social histories averages 17 across the state. Officers in medium (25.0) and large counties (18.2) reported more activities than officers in either Cook County (13.4) or the smallest counties (12.6).
- # The process of completing social histories is quite distinct across differently sized counties. For instance, the use of the mail to aid in the conduct of social histories is non-existent in Cook County, whereas as the size of the jurisdiction decreases, the use of mail increases. The use of the telephone is relatively infrequent in both Cook County and the smallest counties. In Cook County, face-to-face

contacts are the most commonly utilized method of activity whereas use of telephone calls is the modal activity category in the other large counties.

Exclusive of Cook County, for which no intake data were available, the average time it takes to conduct an intake is 4.6 hours. Because the scores are so highly skewed, a more appropriate measure may be the median, which is 3.1 hours. Larger counties report less average time to complete an intake (3.26 hours) than either medium (6.71 hours) or small (5.32) counties. The sample size for intake cases is so small that more detailed analysis of these cases could not be accomplished with confidence in the results.

While there are many implications of this study's findings for the successful enhancement of juvenile

probation services, this study offers no prescriptive recommendations. This is a matter better left to state and

local policy makers.

References

Babbie, Earl (1973) Survey Research Methods. Wadsworth Publishing Co., Inc.: Belmont, CA.

Illinois Administrative Office of the Courts (1996) <u>Annual Report</u>. Illinois Administrative

Office of the Courts. Springfield, IL. pp. 43-45

McGarrell, Edmund F. (1993) "Institutional Theory and the Stability of the Conflict Model of the Incarceration Rate," Justice Quarterly, 10: 7-28.

National Council on Crime and Delinquency (1987) <u>Illinois Administrative Office of the Courts:</u>

Analysis of the 1987 Time Study. Unpublished Report. Madison, WI.

Spohn, Cassia and Jerry Cederblom (1991) "Race and Disparities in Sentencing: A Test of the

Liberation Hypothesis," Justice Quarterly, 8: 305-27.

APPENDIX A: AOIC DATA COLLECTION INSTRUMENTS

Minor's N	ame:(La	st)	(Firs	t)	(MI)	Case Numb	er:	G	ender:
Officer's l	Name:					Officer Num	ber:		: = Female
Case State	us: I. P	obation		2. Cont.	Under Sup.	3.1	nformal	^D	юв:/
Case Type	e: (Circle	One) I	= Intak	<u> 2 = M</u>	ximum <u>3</u>	= Medium	4 = Minim		ace: - American b
Date of Di	i spositi o	p:/	1	sjs	Completed	2 = No	SI		: - Aslan/Pacifi = Black - Hispank
Social His	tory Cos	npleted:	<u> </u> =	Yes No Depar	tm <u>ent:</u>			5	= White = Other
<u>Persoa:</u> = Minor 2 = Minor*	Parents		<u>lethod:</u> = Face to = Teleph	Face	<u>Codeş</u> <u>Place:</u> 1 - Pro 2 - Mir	bation Office for's Residence	<u>Functi</u> 1 ⊲ In Ga	ion: take Interv thering	iewing/Info
3 - Victim 4 - School 5 = Other (6 = Court F	Official Collateral Personnel	3	= Mail = Other		3 = Det 4 = Chi 5 = Cor 6 = Sch 7 = Ott	ention Id Care Facility at col	2 = Ge 3 + Pa 4 = Ca 5 = Ce	eneral Supe per work/o se Staffing ourt Hearin	ervision corresponde g
7 = Nona							<u>6=0</u>	her Tir	me in Min
Date MM/DD	Person	<u>Co</u> Method	des Place	Function	Description	n of Activity		Travel	Waiting
			-		Í				<u> </u>
=								<u> </u>	<u> </u>
								·	 - ·
					 				┼──
	_			<u> </u>	. <u> </u>		·		+
				. <u> </u>		·			<u>├</u> ──
	— —				·			i —	+
	·		i	┼───	<u> </u>		· · ·		1
	 	. <u></u>						<u> </u>	1
				<u>+</u>	<u> </u>				1
	 -	 -		+				i	-
 .	 		i		┠───			 	↓·
	<u> </u>	ļ 			├──			·}	
	L		 _	. 	 			<u>├</u> ──	<u> </u>
	ł								
				 	<u> </u>				

.

Administrative Office of the Illinois Courts - Probation Division Investigation Time Study

.

			·		MD	Race:		AOIC Use	Only
Minor's Na	1 116: (L	29()	(FD3Q		I. American Indian/Eskimo	4. Hispanic		
Gepder:	1. Ma	de T	DOB:		1	2. Asian/Pacific Islander 3. Black	5, White 6. Other		ļ
	<u>2 Fer</u>	nale 📗		North National Nation	un her	Case Number:			
Officer's N	ame:		F.	Jisicer Int					
Investigatio	on Type:	i = Ful	I Social I	History	3=\$	upplemental Social His	story		
(Circle One)		<u>2 = Par</u>	tial Soci	al <u>History</u>	4=[ntake Screening Invest	gation		
Departmen	nt:		- ·						
		-	-		Code	H	Function:		I
Perso <u>a:</u>		<u>N</u>	lethod:	Fred	<u>Place</u> 1 = P	iá robation Offic≎	I + Intervie	wing	
I = Minor		1	= Face to = Telenho	r 2000 1116	2 = 1	linor's Residence	2 - Inform	tion Gathering	Review
2 = MUROF 3 = Victim	s racius	3	= Mail		3 = 0	Setention	3 = Report 4 = Case St	writing/rition affing	essent g
4 = School	Official	4	= Other		4=0	Shid Care Faculty	5 - Court I	-icaring	4
5 = Other	Collateral				6=5	chool	6 - Other		
6 = Court 7 = None	Personnei	_			7 = (Duher			
Date		Co	des					Time in Min	ntes Activity
MM/DD	Person	Method	Place	Function	Descrip	tion of Activity	Trav	ei wanung	
					_				
		├ ──-	{ — →		i —				
	L	· · ·		 					<u> </u>
	i i		l	l	<u> </u>				
			Ť					_	╏┈━──
 	┨┄━─	<u> − −</u>		1					ļ
	 ·	}	┨╺╼	<u></u> -				- I.	
	<u> </u>	I	<u> </u>	↓	! —-				<u> </u>
					ļ	'		- ┼	<u> </u>
	1		T						╉┈━╌
	┨────	╡━	<u> </u>	1	1				
ļ	┨────								
	<u> </u>	<u> </u>		<u> </u>	┦── ・		— —		<u>+ </u>
	T .			Í					_{
	╁╼╌	+			1				· [
i	<u> </u>		<u> </u>		+ -				
	1	1	1	ł				_ + _	- - -
	┢┈╸	1-	+				1		
									T
		.L			<u> </u>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	 - -		
	-]	Į					_ _
	┟╸┈╸	╁────						ļ	_
								, •	

67

-

					C.DOLES			-	
Person:		<u>!</u>	<u>Method:</u> La Face N	o Face	<u>Place:</u> I = Probation Office	<u>Funct</u> I = In	<u>log:</u> Icrvíewine		
L = Minor) – Face e) – Teleni		2 = Minor's Residence	2 - In	formation	Gathering/	Review
2 - Minor	s Parents		2 – Hacpi 1 – Mail	IONE	3 = Detention	3 = R	mont Writi	ne/Proofee	adine
3 = Victim		-	s ∓ Nµani		s - Child Case Facility	4 = 0	ste Sieffind		
4 – School	Official	4		-		5 - 0	our Hearin) F	
5 - Other	Collateral				5 – Court 6 v Sahaal	6 = 0	ther		
6 = Court 3	Personnel					0-0	unci		
7 = None									
Date		Co	xdes				Tit	<u>ne in Min</u>	utes
MM/DD	Person	Method	Place	Function	Description of Activity		Travel	Waiting	Activ
_	1								· ·
							.		
						- 			
	} -								
	<u>-</u>	· ·	-	<u> </u>		•••••			
				┨───			<u> </u>		
	 	- -	<u> </u>	┼━─	 =	.		<u> </u>	
		ļ	<u>.</u>	_	· · ·	<u> </u>	┣	┣━━─	{
		<u> </u>							
	1			1				<u> </u>	<u> </u>
	1					•	1		
<u> </u>			<u>-</u>				·	ļ.—-	1
	1	ļ	┟┈━				<u> </u>	+	<u> </u>
			ļ 				┟────	<u> </u>	
	<u> </u>								
	1 —						T		İ
		+	<u>-</u>		· ·	<u> </u>	1	+ -	-
	!				 			 -	<u> </u>
		i			·		 _		
	T-	[ļ				<u> </u>	- -
	1	1	1						
⊢			╡╶╴		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		T –		
ļ			┦━─	·+- ·		·	+	· · ·	┢
								┦━	-
	1			Ī					
		┼╍᠇	┨━─					†	
		<u> </u>						╺┝╸╴╼	
ļ	_ _	_		_ 	·		╺┝╌┈╸		+
					1				1
	1					_			_

APPENDIX B

 TABLE 1: Average Monthly Supervision Time by County

and Supervision Level, Supervision Cases Only

			Madiyon				Lakt				DeWitt			DeKalb				Cook				inter-Cumberland			-					h-l-lin								3th Chevil	COLONIE .	alvides for each cas	olo (;) Meno time ;
Tiputal	Miniana	Medium	Maxingum	Total	Minimum	Medium	Maximum	Total	Mehemuni	Medium	nonupxeya	Twill	Middlebum	Medium	Total	Minimum	Madium	Maximum	Total	Minimum	Mediyum	Maximum	Total	Mihimum	Medium	Maximum	Total	Minimum	Medium	Meximum	Total)dinimom		- Ser	Tatel	Minimum	Medium	Maximum	SUPERING AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND	a by county and tuper	spent per arouth (to ha
.971	029	.924	2.076	2.195	1.908	1.997	3.279	1.324	,503	C.#13	1.247	1,473	1.036	1.683	2.632	64S'I	2.570	3.847	2.188	.98.]_442	SGRE	1.418	25	1,753	1.725	1,262	13	1.069	2.952	2,909	1.941	1 379	1 27	.287	1,012	1,653	2.691	ELMOD	vision leve	s.) performi
ä	ĝ	7 00	2.221	1,471	1.175	1.417	\$1£.2	1.050	483	1.192	1.333	E.192	329	8091	2217	1.008	2.279	3,283	1.671	88.	1.558	3 292	.833	.258	1.754	-	.813	417	.873	2.842	2,582	846	2.875	2.528	1,333	.725	1.383	1.433	ange by ¹	i (superv	solitet Jug
ನೆ	=	5	p.	8	5	₽	12	~	لعا	æ		3	0	- =	۲ <u>و</u>	ដ	244	3	۲,	•	Ξ	•	1 0	4	3	-	ផ	7	-1	-	Ľ	~		ឆ	3	Ş	7	9			vbka

. .

COLVER	SUPER INDIA LEVEL	diame.	Anther	2
MeHener	Maxindulat	4.963	3.950	<u>۵</u>
	Mediam	LA35	1.325	w
	Minimuth	561	667	Ξ
	Total	2,415	1.325	37
MeLab	Maximum	2,463	2192	13
	Medium	1.745	1.000	=
	Mintmun	1.150	.525	9
	Total	1.866	1.008	3
	Maximum	4.463	4.463	22
•	Mediano	1.037	975	ò
	Mielewa	566	.5 0 0	•
	"Codal	1.305	.8 8	2
<u>.</u>	Modium	3.246	2.621	e
	Minimum	2.878	3.008	در ا
	Total	3.123	2.650	•
Rock Liand	Maximua	3.727	.954	ឆ
	Medium	£\$6'1	.417	
	Minimura	1.219	712	- -
	Total	2.504	1.483	N
Saspanon	Meximum	3,152	3.167	, ee
	htodium	1.580		1
		1.90	50	£ 0
		177	1	⊷
	Mediam	756	.567	ي ا
	Miniputt	.292	.267	÷
	Total	.5Q\$.392	=
Manual	Maximum	2,933	2.775	÷
	Medium	2,449	2.063	. 0
	Minimput	1,231	1.042	. •
	Tolvi	2.16t	2.158	=
Tatel	Maximum	3.401	2.758	8
	Medium	2.215	1.750	t.
	3-Cinianum	.239	1V	
	Tatal	2.240	1401	ĝ

APPENDIX C

SIUC Probation Officer Survey

Mail Survey of Probation Officers Involved in the TIME STUDY OF JUVENILE PROBATION SERVICES IN ILLINOIS

Center for the Study of Crime, Delinquency, and Corrections Southern Illinois University

PROBATION OFFICER NAME:

(Please type or print)

COUNTY/CIRCUIT:

Introduction:

We have received a grant from the Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority to process and analyze time study data collected by the Administrative Office of Illinois Courts (AOIC). AOIC has told us that you participated in this study and provided them information on the amount of time and the type of activities involved in supervising juveniles who are on probation.

This project involves trying to make sense of the data that you and other probation officers provided AOIC between September and November 1996. We would like to ask you some questions about the time study and your perceptions of juvenile probation in Blinois. The questionnaire should take about 20 to 30 minutes to complete.

All the information that you give will be strictly confidential. The answers you give will be reported in such a way that no one's answers or name can be identified. No one but the researchers will see your responses. To ensure this, when you finish this form, put it in the stamped, self- addressed envelope provided and place it in the mail. The information will be used for research purposes only; no one outside the study project (including AOIC and your department) will have access to the information that you are providing. Once all the results have been collected, all information relating to names and personal identifiers will be destroyed.

You should further understand that taking part in this study is purely voluntary. You can refuse to answer any specific questions. There cannot be and will not be any consequences for your refusal to participate in this survey. Your active role in giving us information, however, is very important and we thank you for your participation in this important probation study.

This project was reviewed and approved by the Southern Illinois University at Carbondale's Human Subjects Committee. Questions regarding your rights as a participant in this research may be addressed to the Committee Chairperson, Office of Research Development and Administration, Southern Illinois University, Carbondale, IL 62901-4709. If you have any questions about this study, you may contact the Principal Investigator, Dr. Tom Castellano. He can be contacted at: Crime Study Center, Southern Illinois University at Carbondale, IL 62901-4504. His phone number is 618-453-5701.

My signature below shows that I have read the above, and that I consent to further participation in this study.

\$ignature _____

Date _____

Background Information:

1. How long have you been a probation officer? (Years) (Months)	
a. How long have you been a juvenile probation officer? $\frac{1}{(Y \text{ cars})}$	Months)
2. Do you supervise juveniles only?	
No: If no, what percentage of your caseload are juveniles? Yes	
3. As of today, what are the approximate numbers of persons you supervise	who are on:
Administrative Supervision	
Minimum Supervision	
Medium Supervision	
Maximum Supervision	
What percent of the persons that you supervise are on: (must add up	to 100%)
Informal Supervision %	
Court Supervision %	

•

...

· .

- .

.

Informal Supervision	
Court Supervision	%
Continued Under Supervision	%
Probation	%
Other	. %
Total =	100%

4 Of all of the work that you do as a Probation Officer, what percent of your time involves: (must add up to 100%)

Supervision		%
Intakes		%
Social Histo	nies/Investigations	%
Other	- <u>-</u>	%
	Total =	100%

.

Now, we would like to focus on the AOIC Time Study:

5. Was your participation in the AOIC time study voluntary?

No Yes

6. Please describe why you think you were chosen to participate in this study: _____

7. If other juvenile POs from your county participated in this time study, were they chosen in a manner similar to how you were chosen?

No, explain:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Yes, explain:	

.

20

2

8. How did you feel when you were first asked/told to participate in this study? For each of the following adjectives, circle the response that best fits how you felt.

Нарру	a) Not at all	b) Very little	c) Some	d) A lot
Angry	a) Not at all	b) Very little	c) Some	d) A lot
Proud	a) Not at all	b) Very little	c) Some	d) A lot
Upset	a) Not at all	b) Very little	c) Some	d) A lot
Enthusiastic	a) Not at all	b) Very little	c) Some	d) A lot
Reluctant	a) Not at all	b) Very little	c) Some	d) A lot
Excited	a) Not at all	b) Very little	c) Some	d) A lot
Pleased	a) Not at all	b) Very little	c) Some	d) A lot
Skeptical	a) Not at all	b) Very little	c) Some	d) A lot
Burdened	a) Not at all	b) Very little	c) Some	d) A lot

Were you provided detailed information on the AOIC study	before your actual involvement?
NoYes	
a. Were you told how long your participation in the stur	dy would be?
No Yes (detail response:)
b. Were you told how much time it would take you to c	complete the forms?
No Yes (detail response:	
c. Were you told about the purposes of the study?	
No Yes (detail response:	`
d. Who actually provided you with the information?	
Immediate Supervisor	
Chief Juvenile Officer	
Chief Probation Officer	
ACIC Training Staft	
10. Did you see any personal benefits by participating in the stu	udy?
No Yes)
10a. What other good could you see coming out of this study, Illinois citizens, etc.?	either for your department, AOIC
10b. Based on what you were told and your experience with the purposes of this study are?	he study, what do you think the

-

.

..

3

.

• .

11. Prior to the study start up, did you receive any training?

____ No ____ Yes

Briefly describe the training:

On a scale of 1 to 5, with 1 being strongly agree (SA) and 5 being strongly disagree (SD), would you say the training was:

4

.

Informative	SA 1	2	3	4	5
Effective	1	2	3	4	5
Clear	1	2	3	4	5
Necessary	1	2	3	4	5

Please respond to this statement the same way as above (SA to SD): "After the training, I was fully prepared to correctly report the time data being requested"

SA				SD
1	2	3	4	5

If not prepared fully, what could have been done differently to have improved the preparation of POs?

12. What did you think about the data forms you used to report the time data?(SA is strongly agree; SD is strongly disagree):

Simple to use	SA 1	2	3	4	SD 5
Cumbersome	3	2	3	4	5
Time consuming	L	2	3	4	5
Clearly written	1	2	3	4	5
Valid Measures	1	2	3	4	5

13. All in all, how satisfied were you with the forms?

 Very Satisfied

 Somewhat Satisfied

 Satisfied

 Somewhat Dissatisfied

 Very Dissatisfied

14. During the study, when did you tend to record information on the data forms? Would you say that most of the time you recorded information:

5

 Right after the activity
 Anytime during the workday when you had time
 At the end of each workday
 At the end of each week
 At the end of the study (when you had to turn in the forms)

Describe some of the possible constraints a PO might have had filling out these forms.

15. Based on your experience and your perceptions of work in your office, on average, how many hours per month does it take to supervise a juvenile who is on:

_	Minimum Supervision
	Medium Supervision
	Maximum Supervision

16. We have been asked by AOIC to analyze the data we've been talking about with the goal being to generate numbers on the average amount of time it takes to supervise kids in differing supervision categories. If you were a researcher on this project, how much faith would you have - on a scale of 1 to 10, with 1 being little faith and 10 being a lot of faith -- that the time study data accurately reflect the time it actually takes to supervise juveniles on probation? Please circle:

Little Faith	а							AL	ot of Faith	
j	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	

17. Many variables affect the time it takes to perform probation functions. Do you think that the AOIC time study is more accurate for certain types of juvenile cases than others?

No Yes, please describe:

Do you think that the AOIC time study is more accurate for certain types of supervision activities than others?

____ No ____ Yes, please describe: _____

18. Do you think that the time you recorded on the forms validly represents the time you normally spend on cases within your caseload?

____No ____Yes

If no, why not (e.g., do you think you may have supervised juveniles in the study more closely than normally because of AOIC instructions? Did you not record all contacts or time spent fully because of other duties?):

.

19. We have just a few more questions. We want to know your thoughts on the Risk Assessment Process used with juvenile cases.

a. What do you think of the Risk Instrument used in your office?

b. If you don't think a juvenile's risk classification is consistent with the level of supervision the juvenile really needs, what do you do?

c. How common is this?

d. Do you have any concerns regarding the Risk Reassessment Process?

6

0. W	That do you think about SJS (Strategies for Juvenile Supervision)?
	 a. Is it commonly used in your office? b. When used, does it help you better supervise the juvenile?
	c. Does the SJS drive supervision practices and strategies? Why or why not?
1. A	are people in your office talking about workload formulas at all?
	If yes, what is being said?
	a. Do you think the State should implement workload formulas for juvenue probant services? No Yes
	Please elaborate:
	b. If the State moves in this direction, do you think the time study data should be us help develop workload formulas?
	No Yes

.

. 7

-

10

22. Do you have any further comments on the time study or any issue relating to juvenile probation services in Illinois?

.



Please elaborate: ----

Thank you so much for helping us out. Your contributions have been invaluable. We will be submitting a report to AOIC by Christmas. AOIC will send you a summary of our findings. Once again , thank you.

۰.